
Fall National Meeting 
 Washington, DC 

SERFF Board of Directors (O) Meeting  
2:00-3:30pm Tuesday, September 22, 2009 
Gaylord National Harbor —Maryland 3/4 

 
 
 

DIRECTOR ROLL CALL 
Mary Jo Hudson Ohio Elaine Leighton ACLI Representative 
Susan Voss Iowa Hank Edmiston PCI Representative 
Bill Lacy Arkansas Susan Eckler-Kerns  Prudential 
Tammy Lohmann Minnesota Fred Alvarado TransAmerica 
Ted Hamby North Carolina Kim Kennedy Travelers 
Kathie Stepp Oklahoma David Emmett Georgia Mutual 
Doris Kullman New York   

 
EX-0FFICIO MEMBER ROLL CALL 

Karen Schutter IIPRC Steve Buhr Aegon 
Maureen Hartsmith New Hampshire Shawna Greenway Farm Bureau 
Charlie Rapacciuolo IIPRC Charles Breitstadt NAMIC Representative 
Peg Ising Nelson Levine 

deLuca & Horst 
Larry Mirel Wiley Rein 

Pat Libby Maine Sonja Larkin-Thorne NAIC Consumer Rep 
    

 
AGENDA 

 
1. Update and Discussion of Strategic Plan – Joy Morrison (NAIC) 

Updates to the Strategic Plan will be distributed and discussed to allow the Board to prioritize 
development efforts into 2010. 
 

2. Public Access Comments – Director Mary Jo Hudson (OH) 
The Board will open the floor to comments from interested parties regarding the state of South 
Dakota’s request to allow access to SERFF filings via the internet for filings made available for public 
access by the state.  
 

3. Reports 
• SERFF Product Development – Joy Morrison (NAIC) 
• SERFF Marketing  - Joy Morrison (NAIC) 
• Speed to Market Implementation Progress – Julie Fritz (NAIC) 

 
4. 2010 SERFF Board Elections – Joy Morrison (NAIC) 

Review of seats up for election, process, selection of nominating committee, and timeline. 
 

5. Consider Adoption of 2010 Proposed Budget – Mary Jo Hudson (OH) 
Consider motion to adopt the proposed 2010 Budget. 

 
6. Antitrust Update – Mary Jo Hudson (OH) 
 
7. Adoption of Minutes – Director Mary Jo Hudson (OH) 

The Board is asked to consider adoption of the minutes of the August SERFF Board meeting. 
 

8. Any Other Matters Brought Before the Board – Director Mary Jo Hudson (OH) 
 

W:Sep09/SERFF/Board Agendas-Minutes/ SERFF(O)09-22-09Agenda.doc 



En
h

 N
o

P
ro

je
ct

So
u

rc
e

P
ro

je
ct

 
H

rs
In

it
ia

l 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

U
pd

at
ed

 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

St
at

u
s

R
ec

om
m

en
da

ti
on

41
0-

01

N
AI

C 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

 
R
eq

ui
re

m
en

t 
- 

D
B 

Ch
ar

 
Se

t 
Co

nv
er

si
on

N
AI

C
75

0
20

09
 Q

2
SE

R
FF

 5
.6

.2

Se
pt

 0
9

-N
o 

ch
an

ge
Ju

ne
 2

00
9 

- 
Th

is
 

pr
oj

ec
t 

is
 o

n 
ho

ld
 f

or
 

te
ch

ni
ca

l r
is

k 
as

se
ss

m
en

t.

9/
09

Th
is

 w
ill

 n
ee

d 
to

 b
e 

ca
rr

ie
d 

in
to

 2
01

0 
al

th
ou

gh
 it

 a
pp

ea
rs

 u
nl

ik
el

y 
th

er
e 

w
ill

 b
e 

a 
so

lu
tio

n 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

ne
xt

 1
2 

m
on

th
s.

 

27
0-

01
 &

 
27

0-
02

N
AI

C 
In

iti
at

iv
e 

(L
D

AP
)

N
AI

C
15

00
20

08
 Q

4
SE

R
FF

 5
.6

.1

Se
pt

 0
9

-N
o 

ch
an

ge
Ju

ne
 2

00
9 

- 
SE

R
FF

 
st

af
f 

w
or

ki
ng

 w
ith

 
N

AI
C 

LD
AP

 t
ea

m
 t

o 
re

so
lv

e 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

is
su

es
.9/

09
Th

is
 p

ro
je

ct
 n

ee
ds

 to
 b

e 
ca

rr
ie

d 
in

to
 2

01
0 

as
 

tn
e 

N
A

IC
 h

op
es

 to
 h

av
e 

LD
A

P
 is

su
es

 re
so

lv
ed

 
an

d 
to

 c
on

tin
ue

 im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
ne

xt
 y

ea
r. 

31
0-

01
R
em

in
de

rs
PS

C
75

0
20

09
 Q

1
SE

R
FF

 v
5.

7
9

/0
9

 R
EL

EA
SE

D
 I

N
 

SE
R

FF
 v

5
.7

Th
e 

fe
ed

ba
ck

 o
n 

th
is

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

t w
as

 
so

m
ew

ha
t s

ur
pr

is
in

g 
gi

ve
n 

th
e 

su
pp

or
t i

t h
ad

 
fro

m
 S

E
R

FF
 u

se
rs

 w
he

n 
th

e 
ro

ad
m

ap
 w

as
 

de
ve

lo
pe

d.
  I

t m
ay

 b
e 

th
at

 th
e 

sy
st

em
 h

as
 

ev
ol

ve
d 

en
ou

gh
 –

 o
r t

ha
t t

he
 u

se
rs

 h
av

e 
a 

be
tte

r 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g 

of
 it

 –
 th

at
 th

is
 is

 n
o 

lo
ng

er
 a

 
cr

iti
ca

l f
ea

tu
re

 fo
r m

os
t u

se
rs

.

It 
is

 s
ug

ge
st

ed
 th

at
 a

 v
er

y 
si

m
pl

e 
re

m
in

de
rs

 to
ol

, 
w

ith
 a

 m
in

im
al

 s
et

 o
f f

ea
tu

re
s,

 b
e 

im
pl

em
en

te
d 

fo
r t

he
 5

.7
 re

le
as

e.
  T

he
 fu

nc
tio

na
lit

y 
sh

ou
ld

 
in

cl
ud

e 
a 

m
ea

ns
 o

f t
ra

ck
in

g 
th

e 
to

ol
’s

 u
sa

ge
 fo

r 
ev

al
ua

tio
n 

be
fo

re
 s

pe
nd

in
g 

ad
di

tio
na

l r
es

ou
rc

es
.

W
or

k 
sc

h
ed

u
le

d 
fo

r 
co

m
pl

et
io

n
 b

y 
ye

ar
 e

n
d 

2
0

0
8

 (
SE

R
FF

 5
.6

)
W

or
k 

to
 b

e 
pr

io
ri

ti
ze

d 
fo

r 
2

0
0

9
 &

 2
0

1
0

SE
R

FF
 S

tr
at

eg
ic

 P
la

n

La
st

 M
od

ifi
ed

 8
/0

4/
09

1



En
h

 N
o

P
ro

je
ct

So
u

rc
e

P
ro

je
ct

 
H

rs
In

it
ia

l 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

U
pd

at
ed

 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

St
at

u
s

R
ec

om
m

en
da

ti
on

28
0-

01
 &

 
28

0-
02

Po
st

-S
ub

m
is

si
on

 
U

pd
at

es
PS

C
50

0
20

09
 Q

2
Pl

an
ne

d 
fo

r 
5.

8

Se
pt

 2
0

0
9

 P
la

nn
ed

 
fo

r 
v5

.8
-t

o 
be

 r
el

ea
se

d 
in

 D
ec

 2
00

9.
Au

gu
st

 2
00

9 
- 

Th
is

 
fe

at
ur

e 
w

ill
 b

e 
re

le
as

ed
 in

 v
5.

8 
cu

rr
en

tly
 s

ch
ed

ul
ed

 
fo

r 
N

ov
 4

,2
00

9.

Th
is

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

t r
ec

ei
ve

d 
th

e 
m

os
t c

on
si

st
en

t 
fe

ed
ba

ck
 a

nd
 a

pp
ea

rs
 to

 b
e 

a 
hi

gh
 p

rio
rit

y 
fo

r 
m

an
y 

of
 th

e 
re

sp
on

de
nt

s.
  T

hi
s 

is
 c

on
si

st
en

t w
ith

 
th

e 
ex

pe
rie

nc
e 

of
 th

e 
S

E
R

FF
 s

up
po

rt 
st

af
f, 

w
ho

 
re

gu
la

rly
 fi

el
d 

qu
es

tio
ns

 a
nd

 c
om

m
en

ts
 a

bo
ut

 th
e 

in
ab

ili
ty

 to
 u

pd
at

e 
fil

in
gs

 p
os

t s
ub

m
is

si
on

.  
It 

is
 

re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
th

at
 th

e 
st

af
f w

or
k 

on
 re

so
lv

in
g 

th
e 

te
ch

ni
ca

l c
on

si
de

ra
tio

ns
 w

hi
le

 th
e 

P
S

C
 

m
ov

es
 fo

rw
ar

d 
w

ith
 re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 fo

r a
dd

iti
on

al
 

up
da

te
ab

le
 fi

el
ds

.  
A

 g
oa

l t
o 

im
pl

em
en

t t
w

o 
fie

ld
s 

or
 fi

el
ds

 s
et

 u
pd

at
es

 p
er

 re
le

as
e 

is
 

re
co

m
m

en
de

d.
3/

09
 A

 d
et

ai
le

d 
es

tim
at

e 
w

ill
 b

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

ba
se

d 
on

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 w

or
k 

w
ith

 th
e 

P
S

C
. H

ow
ev

er
, t

hi
s 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t w

ill
 b

e 
m

or
e 

th
an

 th
e 

50
0 

ho
ur

s 
in

 
th

e 
in

iti
al

 p
ro

je
ct

io
n.

24
0-

02
Pi

pe
lin

e
PS

C
50

0
48

0
20

09
 Q

4
SE

R
FF

 v
5.

7

9
/0

9
 R

EL
EA

SE
D

 I
N

 
SE

R
FF

 v
5

.7
Au

gu
st

 2
00

9 
- 

Th
es

e 
ch

an
ge

s 
w

ill
 b

e 
re

le
as

ed
 in

 v
5.

7 
sc

he
du

le
d 

fo
r 

Au
g 

12
.

G
iv

en
 th

e 
co

ns
is

te
nc

y 
of

 th
e 

fe
ed

ba
ck

 re
ce

iv
ed

 
an

d 
th

e 
w

id
es

pr
ea

d 
us

e 
of

 P
ip

el
in

e,
 it

 is
 

re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
th

at
 th

is
 e

nh
an

ce
m

en
t b

e 
st

ar
te

d 
w

ith
 th

e 
5.

7 
re

le
as

e.
  T

he
 P

S
C

 s
ho

ul
d 

w
or

k 
on

 
co

m
pi

lin
g 

a 
lis

t o
f t

he
 c

ha
ng

es
 re

qu
ire

d.
  T

he
se

 
ch

an
ge

s 
ca

n 
be

 w
or

ke
d 

in
 o

ve
r s

ev
er

al
 re

le
as

es
. 

W
e 

al
so

 re
co

m
m

en
d 

al
lo

ca
tin

g 
ho

ur
s 

to
w

ar
d 

fu
rth

er
 o

pt
im

iz
at

io
n 

of
 P

ip
el

in
e 

to
 m

in
im

iz
e 

its
 

im
pa

ct
 to

 s
ys

te
m

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

.

30
0-

02
Fi

el
d-

ba
se

d 
G

en
er

al
 

In
st

ru
ct

io
ns

 P
t 

2
PS

C
50

0
16

0
N

A
SE

R
FF

 v
5.

7

9
/0

9
 R

EL
EA

SE
D

 I
N

 
SE

R
FF

 v
5

.7
Au

gu
st

 2
00

9 
- 

Th
is

 
fe

at
ur

e 
w

ill
 b

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

in
 t

he
 v

5.
7 

re
le

as
e 

sc
he

du
le

d 
fo

r 
Au

g 
12

.

O
rig

in
al

 re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n 

re
vi

se
d 

ba
se

d 
on

 B
O

D
 

an
d 

P
S

C
 fe

ed
ba

ck
.  

P
la

n 
is

 n
ow

 to
 p

ut
 s

om
e 

se
ar

ch
 fi

el
ds

 fo
r t

hi
s 

en
ha

nc
m

en
t i

n 
pl

ac
e 

w
ith

 
th

e 
5.

7 
re

le
as

e.
  B

y 
th

e 
tim

e 
5.

7 
is

 in
 p

ro
du

ct
io

n,
 

st
at

es
 w

ou
ld

 h
av

e 
ha

d 
tim

e 
to

 im
pl

em
en

t a
nd

 
fu

rth
er

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t c

an
 b

e 
un

de
rta

ke
n 

as
 to

 
ad

di
ng

 m
or

e 
fie

ld
s 

an
d 

en
ha

nc
in

g 
se

ar
ch

.
3/

09
 A

ss
um

es
 1

4 
fie

ld
s 

ar
e 

se
ar

ch
ab

le
.

La
st

 M
od

ifi
ed

 8
/0

4/
09

2



En
h

 N
o

P
ro

je
ct

So
u

rc
e

P
ro

je
ct

 
H

rs
In

it
ia

l 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

U
pd

at
ed

 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

St
at

u
s

R
ec

om
m

en
da

ti
on

20
0-

02
R
ep

or
ts

 2
PS

C
75

0
32

0
N

A

Ju
ne

 2
00

9 
- 

Pr
op

os
al

 
to

 t
he

 P
SC

 is
 t

o 
ho

ld
 

of
f 

on
 a

n 
ad

di
tio

na
l 

st
at

e 
re

po
rt

 a
nd

 u
se

 
th

e 
tim

e 
to

w
ar

ds
 P

os
t 

Su
bm

is
si

on
 U

pd
at

es
.

A
 c

us
to

m
 re

po
rti

ng
 fr

am
ew

or
k 

is
 n

ot
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

at
 

th
is

 ti
m

e 
an

d 
do

es
 n

ot
 a

pp
ea

r t
o 

be
 a

n 
op

tio
n 

fo
r 

th
e 

ne
ar

 fu
tu

re
.  

H
ow

ev
er

, l
ac

k 
of

 re
po

rti
ng

 
co

nt
in

ue
s 

to
 b

e 
on

e 
of

 th
e 

m
os

t c
om

m
on

 
co

m
pl

ai
nt

s 
fro

m
 S

E
R

FF
 s

ta
te

s,
 p

ar
tic

ul
ar

ly
 th

os
e 

try
in

g 
to

 m
ov

e 
aw

ay
 fr

om
 th

ei
r b

ac
k 

of
fic

e 
sy

st
em

s.

W
e 

pr
op

os
e 

a 
st

ra
te

gy
 o

f c
on

tin
ua

l 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 to

 c
an

ne
d 

re
po

rti
ng

, s
ea

rc
h,

 a
nd

 
th

e 
ex

po
rt 

to
ol

.  
Th

e 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 
ba

se
d 

on
 s

ta
te

 fe
ed

ba
ck

 a
nd

 c
on

se
ns

us
.  

A
 g

oa
l 

to
 a

dd
 a

t l
ea

st
 o

ne
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t r
ep

or
tin

g 
im

pr
ov

em
en

t p
er

 re
le

as
e 

is
 s

ug
ge

st
ed

.
3/

09
 A

ss
um

es
 o

ne
 s

ta
te

 re
po

rt 
is

 a
dd

ed
 a

nd
 th

at
 

th
e 

E
xp

or
t T

oo
l i

s 
m

od
ifi

ed
 to

 a
llo

w
 th

e 
ex

po
rt 

of
 

C
or

re
sp

on
de

nc
e.

PS
C-

57
Ad

di
tio

na
l P

SC
 

En
ha

nc
em

en
ts

PS
C

54
0

N
A

Pl
an

ne
d 

fo
r 

5.
7

9
/0

9
 R

EL
EA

SE
D

 I
N

 
SE

R
FF

 v
5

.7
Au

gu
st

 2
00

9 
-S

ta
te

 
R
at

e 
D

at
a 

an
d 

PA
CM

 
up

da
te

s 
w

ill
 b

e 
in

 
v5

.7
. 

Th
e 

en
vi

ro
nm

en
t i

n 
w

hi
ch

 S
E

R
FF

 o
pe

ra
te

s 
is

 
co

ns
ta

nt
ly

 c
ha

ng
in

g,
 a

s 
ar

e 
th

e 
ne

ed
s 

of
 it

s 
us

er
s.

  I
t i

s 
re

co
m

m
en

de
d 

th
at

 a
 s

ub
st

an
tia

l 
po

rti
on

 o
f h

ou
rs

 fo
r e

ac
h 

S
E

R
FF

 re
le

as
e 

be
 

re
se

rv
ed

 fo
r s

m
al

l t
o 

m
ed

iu
m

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

ts
 

su
gg

es
te

d 
by

 u
se

rs
 a

nd
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

by
 th

e 
P

S
C

.  
S

m
al

l t
o 

m
ed

iu
m

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

ts
 a

re
 th

os
e 

es
tim

at
ed

 a
t l

es
s 

th
an

 2
00

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t h
ou

rs
.  

Ite
m

s 
la

rg
er

 th
an

 2
00

 h
ou

rs
 w

ill
 b

e 
re

vi
ew

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
P

S
C

 a
nd

, i
f a

pp
ro

ve
d,

 e
sc

al
at

ed
 to

 th
e 

B
oa

rd
 

fo
r a

 fi
na

l d
ec

is
io

n.
3/

09
 T

he
se

 w
ou

ld
 in

cl
ud

e:
 S

ta
te

 R
at

e 
D

at
a,

 
P

A
C

M
 C

on
fid

en
tia

lit
y 

U
pd

at
es

, a
nd

 S
ho

rtc
ut

 to
 

U
pl

oa
d 

fo
r S

up
p 

D
oc

 S
at

is
fy

, 
8/

09
 P

S
C

 o
pt

ed
 to

 ta
bl

e 
th

e 
up

lo
ad

 s
ho

rtc
ut

La
st

 M
od

ifi
ed

 8
/0

4/
09

3



En
h

 N
o

P
ro

je
ct

So
u

rc
e

P
ro

je
ct

 
H

rs
In

it
ia

l 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

U
pd

at
ed

 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

St
at

u
s

R
ec

om
m

en
da

ti
on

21
0-

01
 &

 
21

0-
02

Se
ar

ch
in

g 
PD

Fs
PS

C
15

00
24

0
20

08
 Q

2
Pl

an
ne

d 
fo

r 
5.

7

9
/0

9
 R

EL
EA

SE
D

 I
N

 
SE

R
FF

 v
5

.7
Au

gu
st

 2
00

9-
Th

is
 w

ill
 

be
 r

el
ea

se
d 

in
 

pr
od

uc
tio

n 
w

ith
 v

5.
7 

to
 a

 li
m

ite
d 

gr
ou

p 
of

 
st

at
es

 f
or

 in
iti

al
 t

ria
l.

Th
is

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

t c
or

re
sp

on
ds

 w
ith

 a
n 

N
A

IC
 

en
te

rp
ris

e 
pr

oj
ec

t t
o 

im
pl

em
en

t a
 to

ol
 c

al
le

d 
O

ra
cl

e 
Te

xt
 S

ea
rc

h.
  T

he
 N

A
IC

 p
la

ns
 to

 c
on

tra
ct

 
w

ith
 a

n 
O

ra
cl

e 
co

ns
ul

ta
nt

, t
en

ta
tiv

el
y 

fo
r s

ec
on

d 
qu

ar
te

r 2
00

9.
  T

he
 c

on
su

lta
nt

 w
ill

 h
el

p 
w

ith
 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

pr
od

uc
t i

n 
va

rio
us

 a
re

as
.  

It 
is

 re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
th

at
 a

 s
im

pl
e,

 n
on

-fu
nc

tio
na

l 
pr

ot
ot

yp
e 

be
 d

ev
el

op
ed

 p
rio

r t
o 

th
e 

co
ns

ul
ta

nt
’s

 
ar

riv
al

 a
nd

 d
em

on
st

ra
te

d 
fo

r P
S

C
 fe

ed
ba

ck
.  

Th
is

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ca
n 

be
 u

se
d 

to
 b

ui
ld

 a
 s

et
 o

f 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 to

 b
e 

di
sc

us
se

d 
w

ith
 th

e 
co

ns
ul

ta
nt

.  
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 im

pa
ct

 w
ill

 a
ls

o 
be

 
di

sc
us

se
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

co
ns

ul
ta

nt
.  

Th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ga
th

er
ed

 c
an

 b
e 

us
ed

 to
 m

ak
e 

a 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n 
on

 fu
rth

er
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t. 

H
ow

ev
er

, t
hi

s 
is

 n
ot

 e
xp

ec
te

d 
to

 b
e 

a 
la

rg
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t e

ffo
rt,

 p
ro

ba
bl

y 
le

ss
 th

an
 1

40
 h

ou
rs

 
to

 c
om

pl
et

e.
3/

09
 O

ra
cl

e 
co

ns
ul

ta
nt

 w
ill

 b
e 

in
 N

A
IC

 la
te

 A
pr

il 
or

 e
ar

ly
 M

ay
 to

 w
or

k 
w

ith
 D

B
A

s 
an

d 
de

ve
lo

pe
rs

. 
E

st
im

at
e 

to
 c

om
pl

et
e 

m
ay

 c
ha

ng
e 

ba
se

d 
on

 
co

ns
ul

ta
nt

's
 re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n.

22
0-

01
PR

L/
R
SC

 P
ar

t 
1 

- 
An

al
ys

is
PS

C
10

00
20

08
 Q

2

Ju
ne

 2
00

9 
- 

Fu
rt

he
r 

ac
tio

n 
pe

nd
in

g 
Sp

ee
d 

to
 M

ar
ke

t 
TF

 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n.

W
e 

re
co

m
m

en
d 

th
at

 n
o 

fu
rth

er
 a

ct
io

n 
be

 ta
ke

n 
on

 th
is

 it
em

 u
nt

il 
th

e 
P

R
L 

su
bg

ro
up

 c
om

pl
et

es
 

th
ei

r d
is

cu
ss

io
ns

.  
Th

e 
st

af
f h

as
 b

ee
n 

an
d 

w
ill

 
co

nt
in

ue
 to

 a
tte

nd
 th

e 
su

bg
ro

up
’s

 c
al

ls

22
0-

02
PR

L/
R
SC

 P
ar

t 
II

 -
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t
PS

C
20

00
20

08
 Q

4

Ju
ne

 2
00

9 
- 

Fu
rt

he
r 

ac
tio

n 
pe

nd
in

g 
Sp

ee
d 

to
 M

ar
ke

t 
TF

 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n.

W
e 

re
co

m
m

en
d 

th
at

 n
o 

fu
rth

er
 a

ct
io

n 
be

 ta
ke

n 
on

 th
is

 it
em

 u
nt

il 
th

e 
P

R
L 

su
bg

ro
up

 c
om

pl
et

es
 

th
ei

r d
is

cu
ss

io
ns

.  
Th

e 
st

af
f h

as
 b

ee
n 

an
d 

w
ill

 
co

nt
in

ue
 to

 a
tte

nd
 th

e 
su

bg
ro

up
’s

 c
al

ls

La
st

 M
od

ifi
ed

 8
/0

4/
09

4



En
h

 N
o

P
ro

je
ct

So
u

rc
e

P
ro

je
ct

 
H

rs
In

it
ia

l 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

U
pd

at
ed

 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

St
at

u
s

R
ec

om
m

en
da

ti
on

N
o 

ID
St

at
e 

So
le

 S
ys

te
m

-
Pa

pe
r 

Le
tt

er
 T

em
pl

at
e 

Bo
ar

d
75

0
20

08
 Q

4

Ju
ne

 2
00

9 
- 

N
o 

up
da

te
 

on
 t

hi
s 

ite
m

.  
Se

e 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n.

It 
is

 re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
th

at
 th

e 
ho

ur
s 

fo
r t

hi
s 

pr
oj

ec
t 

be
 re

di
re

ct
ed

 to
w

ar
d 

re
po

rti
ng

 im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 
an

d 
P

S
C

 d
es

ig
n 

su
gg

es
tio

ns
.  

A
lte

rn
at

el
y,

 s
om

e 
of

 th
e 

ho
ur

s 
co

ul
d 

be
 a

llo
ca

te
d 

fo
r i

m
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 
to

 P
ap

er
 T

ra
ck

in
g,

 a
n 

ex
is

tin
g 

fe
at

ur
e 

th
at

 is
 

cr
iti

ca
l f

or
 s

ta
te

s 
th

at
 h

av
e 

no
t m

an
da

te
d 

S
E

R
FF

 
bu

t d
o 

us
e 

it 
as

 th
ei

r s
ol

e 
sy

st
em

 fo
r f

ili
ng

 re
vi

ew
 

an
d 

tra
ck

in
g.

40
0-

01
II

PR
C 

En
ha

nc
em

en
ts

 
20

09
II

PR
C

50
0

37
5

20
09

 Q
1

Se
pt

 0
9

 w
ill

 b
e 

re
le

as
ed

 o
n 

v5
.8

 (
D

ec
 

9) Au
gu

st
  

20
09

 -
 

In
co

rp
or

at
io

n 
of

 
St

at
em

en
t 

of
 I

nt
en

t 
w

ill
 b

e 
in

 v
5.

8 
as

 w
el

l 
as

 a
dd

in
g 

th
e 

m
ix

-n
-

m
at

ch
 in

di
ca

to
r.

 

A
t t

hi
s 

tim
e,

 n
o 

m
aj

or
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t c

ha
ng

es
 a

re
 

be
in

g 
re

qu
es

te
d 

by
 th

e 
IIP

R
C

.  
Th

re
e 

lo
w

 to
 

m
ed

iu
m

 e
ffo

rt 
en

ha
nc

em
en

ts
 a

re
 b

ei
ng

 
ev

al
ua

te
d.

  I
t i

s 
ou

r r
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
n 

th
at

 s
m

al
l 

to
 m

ed
iu

m
 e

nh
an

ce
m

en
ts

 re
qu

es
te

d 
by

 th
e 

IIP
R

C
 b

e 
an

no
un

ce
d 

an
d 

di
sc

us
se

d 
as

 
ne

ce
ss

ar
y 

in
 P

S
C

 m
ee

tin
gs

, t
he

n 
sl

at
ed

 fo
r t

he
 

ne
xt

 p
os

si
bl

e 
re

le
as

e.
  L

ar
ge

r e
ffo

rt 
en

ha
nc

em
en

ts
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 d
is

cu
ss

ed
 w

ith
 th

e 
B

oa
rd

 o
f D

ire
ct

or
s 

an
d 

th
e 

P
S

C
 b

ot
h,

 a
s 

th
ey

 w
ill

 
im

pa
ct

 o
th

er
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t p

la
ns

.
3/

09
 T

he
re

 a
re

 c
ur

re
nt

ly
 tw

o 
en

ha
nc

em
en

ts
 th

at
 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
es

tim
at

ed
 fo

r t
he

 II
P

R
C

: I
nc

or
po

ra
tin

g 
th

e 
S

ta
te

m
en

t o
f I

nt
en

t f
ie

ld
s 

as
 fi

el
de

d 
da

ta
, a

nd
 

ad
de

d 
a 

M
ix

 n
 M

at
ch

 in
di

ca
to

r.

La
st

 M
od

ifi
ed

 8
/0

4/
09

5



En
h

 N
o

P
ro

je
ct

So
u

rc
e

P
ro

je
ct

 
H

rs
In

it
ia

l 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

U
pd

at
ed

 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

St
at

u
s

R
ec

om
m

en
da

ti
on

N
o 

ID
Fo

rm
-d

riv
en

 F
ili

ng
s

PS
C

40
00

20
09

 Q
2

Ju
ne

 2
00

9 
- 

N
o 

up
da

te
 

on
 t

hi
s 

ite
m

.  
R
el

ie
s 

on
 

PR
L 

de
ci

si
on

.

6-
09

 O
ne

 o
f t

he
 g

re
at

es
t c

ha
lle

ng
es

 to
 th

is
 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t i

s 
its

 c
lo

se
 ti

e 
to

 th
e 

P
R

L 
ch

an
ge

s 
th

at
 a

re
 b

ei
ng

 re
vi

ew
ed

 u
nd

er
 O

E
W

G
.  

W
e 

re
co

m
m

en
d 

th
at

 n
o 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t b

e 
st

ar
te

d 
on

 
Fo

rm
 D

riv
en

 F
ili

ng
s 

un
til

 th
e 

P
R

L 
is

su
es

 a
re

 
re

so
lv

ed
.  

H
ow

ev
er

, a
dd

iti
on

al
 w

or
k 

to
 d

et
ai

l t
hi

s 
en

ha
nc

em
en

t s
ho

ul
d 

be
 u

nd
er

ta
ke

n 
to

 h
el

p 
w

ith
 

ad
di

tio
na

l p
rio

rit
iz

at
io

n 
on

ce
 th

e 
P

R
L 

di
sc

us
si

on
s 

ar
e 

co
m

pl
et

e.
  W

e 
re

co
m

m
en

d 
th

at
 th

e 
S

E
R

FF
 

te
am

 w
or

k 
w

ith
 th

e 
P

S
C

 to
 c

re
at

e 
a 

pr
oj

ec
t 

sc
op

e 
an

d 
a 

se
t o

f h
ig

h 
le

ve
l b

us
in

es
s 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 fo
r t

hi
s 

fe
at

ur
e.

4
2

0
-0

1

In
co

rp
or

at
e 

Fi
lin

g 
M

od
e/

M
et

ho
d 

in
to

 
Su

bm
is

si
on

 
R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
Bo

ar
d

50
0

Se
p 

0
9

-P
re

pa
rin

g 
a 

su
rv

ey
 t

o 
go

 t
o 

st
at

es
 

re
ga

rd
in

g 
fil

in
g 

m
od

e/
m

et
ho

d 
an

d 
th

er
e 

im
pa

ct
 o

n 
Su

bm
is

si
on

 
R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
.

Au
gu

st
 2

00
9-

PS
C 

is
 

re
vi

ew
in

g 
th

is
 it

em
. 

8-
09

 T
he

 P
S

C
 h

as
 s

ug
ge

st
ed

 a
 s

ur
ve

y 
to

 s
ta

te
s 

to
 d

et
er

m
in

e 
w

he
th

er
 in

co
rp

or
at

in
g 

th
e 

fil
in

g 
m

od
e/

m
et

ho
d 

in
to

 th
e 

S
ub

m
is

si
on

 R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
 

w
ill

 im
pa

ct
 m

an
y 

S
ub

 R
eq

's
. I

f t
he

 s
ta

te
s 

sa
y 

it 
ha

s 
lit

tle
 im

pa
ct

, t
hi

s 
m

ay
 n

ot
 b

e 
a 

go
od

 u
se

 o
f 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t h

ou
rs

. 
Th

is
 w

or
k 

w
as

 in
di

ca
te

d 
as

 a
 p

ot
en

tia
l r

is
k 

fo
r 

P
R

L.
 If

 th
e 

B
oa

rd
 p

ro
ce

ed
s 

w
ith

 th
is

 
en

ha
nc

em
en

t p
rio

r t
o 

a 
de

ci
si

on
 b

ei
ng

 m
ad

e 
on

 
th

e 
P

R
L 

re
de

si
gn

, i
t c

ou
ld

 c
au

se
 re

w
or

k 
an

d/
or

 
ha

m
pe

r t
he

 P
R

L 
re

de
si

gn
.

4
2

0
-0

2

Al
lo

w
 s

el
ec

tio
n 

of
 

m
ul

tip
le

 T
O

Is
 a

nd
 

Su
b-

TO
Is

 o
n 

a 
SE

R
FF

 
fil

in
g.

Bo
ar

d
50

0-
75

0
Au

gu
st

 2
00

9-
PS

C 
is

 
re

vi
ew

in
g 

th
is

 it
em

. 

8-
09

 T
hi

s 
w

as
 a

n 
ite

m
 th

at
 w

as
 d

es
ig

na
te

d 
as

 
on

e 
th

e 
te

am
 c

ou
ld

 m
ov

e 
fo

rw
ar

d 
on

 w
ith

ou
t 

su
bs

ta
nt

ia
l i

m
pa

ct
 fr

om
 P

R
L 

ch
an

ge
s.

 H
ow

ev
er

, 
it 

ha
s 

a 
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 im
pa

ct
 o

n 
no

t o
nl

y 
S

E
R

FF
's

 
fil

in
g 

w
iz

ar
d 

bu
t t

he
 u

nd
er

ly
in

g 
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

of
 fi

lin
gs

 
th

at
 h

av
e 

be
en

 c
re

at
ed

 o
ve

r t
he

 p
as

t 1
0 

ye
ar

s.

La
st

 M
od

ifi
ed

 8
/0

4/
09

6



En
h

 N
o

P
ro

je
ct

So
u

rc
e

P
ro

je
ct

 
H

rs
In

it
ia

l 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

U
pd

at
ed

 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

St
at

u
s

R
ec

om
m

en
da

ti
on

4
2

0
-0

3

To
ol

s 
to

 M
ak

e 
Fi

lin
g 

R
ul

es
 M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 

Ea
si

er
Bo

ar
d

Au
gu

st
 2

00
9-

PS
C 

is
 

re
vi

ew
in

g 
th

is
 it

em
. 

8-
09

 N
ot

e:
 th

e 
en

ha
nc

em
en

t t
o 

di
sp

la
y 

th
e 

TO
Is

 
an

d 
S

ub
TO

Is
 th

at
 a

pp
ly

 fo
r e

ac
h 

R
eq

ui
re

m
en

t o
n 

th
e 

R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
 p

ag
e 

w
ill

 b
e 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 th

is
 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t. 

U
nt

il 
th

e 
P

S
C

 d
ef

in
es

 w
ha

t e
ls

e 
w

ou
ld

 b
e 

in
cl

ud
ed

 h
er

e,
 w

e 
w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
ab

le
 to

 
pr

ov
id

e 
a 

ba
llp

ar
k 

es
tim

at
e.

N
o 

ID
Co

nc
ur

re
nt

 R
at

e/
Fo

rm
 

R
ev

ie
w

PS
C

30
00

20
09

 Q
4

Se
pt

 0
9

 B
us

in
es

s 
An

al
ys

t 
as

si
gn

ed
 t

o 
be

gi
n 

w
or

k 
w

ith
 P

SC
.

Ju
ne

 2
00

9 
- 

R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
 w

or
k 

no
t 

st
ar

te
d.

8/
09

 It
 is

 re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
th

at
 a

n 
in

iti
al

 c
al

l b
e 

he
ld

 
w

ith
 th

e 
si

x 
st

at
es

 th
at

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
fe

ed
ba

ck
 o

n 
th

is
 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t t

o 
try

 a
nd

 d
ev

el
op

 a
 s

co
pe

 o
f w

or
k 

an
d 

hi
gh

 le
ve

l b
us

in
es

s 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
.  

Th
is

 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
co

ul
d 

be
 u

se
d 

to
 d

ev
el

op
 a

 m
or

e 
pr

ec
is

e 
es

tim
at

e 
so

 th
e 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t c

an
 b

e 
ev

al
ua

te
d 

fu
rth

er
.

6/
09

 T
hi

s 
w

or
k 

w
as

 in
di

ca
te

d 
as

 a
 p

ot
en

tia
l r

is
k 

fo
r P

R
L.

 If
 th

e 
B

oa
rd

 p
ro

ce
ed

s 
w

ith
 th

is
 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t p

rio
r t

o 
a 

de
ci

si
on

 b
ei

ng
 m

ad
e 

on
 

th
e 

P
R

L 
re

de
si

gn
, i

t c
ou

ld
 c

au
se

 re
w

or
k 

an
d/

or
 

ha
m

pe
r t

he
 P

R
L 

re
de

si
gn

.

N
o 

ID
M

es
sa

ge
s 

fo
r 

Fi
lin

g 
R
ul

e 
Ch

an
ge

s
PS

C
50

0
20

09
 Q

4

Ju
ne

 2
00

9 
- 

R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
 w

or
k 

no
t 

st
ar

te
d.

It 
is

 re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
th

is
 fe

at
ur

e 
be

 re
-e

va
lu

at
ed

 
af

te
r r

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

 w
or

k 
fo

r t
he

 5
.7

 re
le

as
e 

is
 

co
m

pl
et

e.
  A

t t
ha

t t
im

e,
 th

e 
P

S
C

 c
ou

ld
 d

is
cu

ss
 

th
e 

fe
at

ur
e 

an
d 

pr
ov

id
e 

a 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n.
  

A
lte

rn
at

el
y,

 th
is

 w
or

k 
co

ul
d 

be
 c

om
pl

et
ed

 in
 5

.7
 

in
st

ea
d 

of
 th

e 
pr

op
os

ed
 w

or
k 

fo
r R

em
in

de
rs

.  
H

ow
ev

er
, t

hi
s 

fe
at

ur
e 

w
ill

 re
qu

ire
 m

or
e 

an
al

ys
is

 
an

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t t
ha

n 
a 

sc
al

ed
 b

ac
k 

R
em

in
de

rs
.

La
st

 M
od

ifi
ed

 8
/0

4/
09

7



En
h

 N
o

P
ro

je
ct

So
u

rc
e

P
ro

je
ct

 
H

rs
In

it
ia

l 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

U
pd

at
ed

 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

St
at

u
s

R
ec

om
m

en
da

ti
on

N
o 

ID
St

at
e 

So
le

 S
ys

te
m

 
Fe

at
ur

e 
M

 (
TB

D
)

Bo
ar

d
75

0
20

09
 Q

4

Ju
ne

 2
00

9 
- 

N
o 

up
da

te
 

on
 t

hi
s 

ite
m

.  
Se

e 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n.

It 
is

 re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
th

at
 th

e 
ho

ur
s 

fo
r t

hi
s 

pr
oj

ec
t 

be
 re

di
re

ct
ed

 to
w

ar
d 

re
po

rti
ng

 im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 
an

d 
P

S
C

 d
es

ig
n 

su
gg

es
tio

ns
.  

A
lte

rn
at

el
y,

 s
om

e 
of

 th
e 

ho
ur

s 
co

ul
d 

be
 a

llo
ca

te
d 

fo
r i

m
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 
to

 P
ap

er
 T

ra
ck

in
g,

 a
n 

ex
is

tin
g 

fe
at

ur
e 

th
at

 is
 

cr
iti

ca
l f

or
 s

ta
te

s 
th

at
 h

av
e 

no
t m

an
da

te
d 

S
E

R
FF

 
bu

t d
o 

us
e 

it 
as

 th
ei

r s
ol

e 
sy

st
em

 fo
r f

ili
ng

 re
vi

ew
 

an
d 

tra
ck

in
g.

N
o 

ID
So

le
 S

ys
te

m
 S

ta
te

 
An

al
ys

is
 P

t 
2

Bo
ar

d
25

0
N

A
Ju

ne
 2

00
9 

- 
N

o 
up

da
te

 
at

 t
hi

s 
tim

e.
  

R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
n 

is
 a

m
en

de
d 

pe
r P

S
C

 m
ee

tin
g.

  
N

ew
 p

ro
po

sa
l i

s 
to

 s
ur

ve
y 

st
at

es
.  

Th
e 

go
al

 o
f 

th
e 

su
rv

ey
 is

 to
 v

al
id

at
e 

w
he

th
er

 s
ta

te
s 

fe
el

 
S

E
R

FF
 is

 m
ov

in
g 

in
 th

e 
rig

ht
 d

ire
ct

io
n 

an
d 

w
ill

 b
e 

ab
le

 to
 m

ee
t t

hi
s 

st
ra

te
gi

c 
go

al
 a

s 
a 

na
tu

ra
l 

co
ns

eq
ue

nc
e 

of
 th

e 
ov

er
al

l d
ev

el
op

m
en

t p
la

n.

N
o 

ID

Co
m

pa
ny

 d
at

a 
m

ov
es

 
fr

om
 o

ne
 D

at
a 

H
os

te
r 

to
 a

no
th

er
Bo

ar
d

25
0

20
09

 Q
3

Th
is

 p
ro

ce
ss

 
w

ill
 b

e 
ou

ts
id

e 
of

 t
he

 S
ER

FF
 

sy
st

em
 s

o 
it 

w
ill

 n
ot

 b
e 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 

w
ith

 a
 r

el
ea

se

Au
gu

st
 2

00
9 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
ha

s 
be

en
 

co
m

pl
et

ed
 o

n 
th

is
 

ite
m

.

 

N
o 

ID

Pr
oo

f 
of

 c
on

ce
pt

s 
- 

re
m

ov
e 

da
ta

 p
er

 s
ta

te
 

da
ta

 r
et

en
tio

n 
po

lic
y 

an
d 

m
or

e 
co

m
pl

ex
 

co
m

pa
ny

 d
at

a 
m

ov
es

Bo
ar

d
12

0
20

09
 Q

3

Th
is

 p
ro

ce
ss

 
w

ill
 b

e 
ou

ts
id

e 
of

 t
he

 S
ER

FF
 

sy
st

em
 s

o 
it 

w
ill

 n
ot

 b
e 

as
so

ci
at

ed
 

w
ith

 a
 r

el
ea

se
Au

gu
st

 2
00

9 
- 

W
or

k 
ha

s 
no

t 
ye

t 
be

gu
n.

En
h 

N
o-

th
is

 n
um

be
r c

or
re

sp
on

ds
 to

 th
e 

07
-0

8 
pl

an
 a

nd
 is

 a
dd

ed
 h

er
e 

to
 a

ss
is

t y
ou

 in
 m

at
ch

in
g 

th
os

e 
up

. c
ol

or
 c

od
in

g 
in

 th
is

 c
ol

um
n 

is
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

07
-0

8 
pl

an
's

 e
st

im
at

es
 o

f e
ffo

rt 
an

d 
is

 ju
st

 a
dd

ed
 h

er
e 

to
 h

el
p 

yo
u 

tim
e 

th
es

e 
fe

at
ur

es
 b

ac
k 

to
 th

e 
07

-0
8 

pl
an

. T
hi

s 
nu

m
be

r h
as

 a
ls

o 
be

en
 

ad
de

d 
to

 e
ac

h 
fe

at
ur

e 
as

 it
 a

pp
ea

rs
 in

 th
e 

R
oa

dm
ap

 S
um

m
ar

y 
do

cu
m

en
t. 

La
st

 M
od

ifi
ed

 8
/0

4/
09

8



En
h

 N
o

P
ro

je
ct

So
u

rc
e

P
ro

je
ct

 
H

rs
In

it
ia

l 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

U
pd

at
ed

 
P

ro
je

ct
io

n
 

St
at

u
s

R
ec

om
m

en
da

ti
on

Y
el

lo
w

= 
<5

00
 h

ou
rs

; B
lu

e=
 5

00
-7

50
 h

ou
rs

; P
ur

pl
e=

 7
50

-1
,5

00
 h

ou
rs

; G
re

en
= 

>1
,5

00
 h

ou
rs

Pr
oj

ec
t-T

hi
s 

is
 th

e 
cu

rr
en

t n
am

e 
fo

r t
he

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

t b
ut

 it
 s

ho
ul

d 
ge

ne
ra

lly
 m

at
ch

 to
 th

e 
07

-0
8 

pl
an

. 
So

ur
ce

- T
hi

s 
co

lu
m

n 
w

as
 a

dd
ed

 s
o 

th
at

 th
e 

B
oa

rd
 c

ou
ld

 s
ee

 w
ha

t g
ro

up
 is

 b
eh

in
d 

ea
ch

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

ts
.

Pr
oj

ec
t H

ou
rs

-th
is

 is
 a

 h
ig

h-
le

ve
l e

st
im

at
e 

on
ly

 a
nd

 m
ay

 n
ot

 re
fle

ct
 th

e 
ac

tu
al

 h
ou

rs
 s

pe
nt

 o
n 

an
y 

on
e 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t.

In
iti

al
 P

ro
je

ct
io

n:
 re

fe
rs

 to
 th

e 
te

nt
at

iv
e 

re
le

as
e 

se
t w

he
n 

th
e 

ro
ad

m
ap

 w
as

 d
ev

el
op

ed
 in

 2
00

7.
 

U
pd

at
ed

 P
ro

je
ct

io
n:

 in
di

ca
te

s 
th

e 
re

le
as

e 
fo

r w
hi

ch
 th

e 
pr

oj
ec

t i
s 

cu
rr

en
tly

 s
la

te
d.

St
at

us
: S

ho
w

s 
cu

rr
en

t s
ta

tu
s 

of
 th

e 
fe

at
ur

e.
R

ec
om

m
en

da
tio

n:
 th

is
 is

 th
e 

su
m

m
ar

y 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n 
fro

m
 th

e 
R

oa
dm

ay
 S

um
m

ar
y 

do
cu

m
en

t. 

La
st

 M
od

ifi
ed

 8
/0

4/
09

9



SE
R

FF
 S

tr
at

eg
ic

 P
la

nn
in

g-
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t S

ch
ed

ul
e

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t S
ch

ed
ul

e 
U

pd
at

e 
 9

15
/2

00
8

R
el

ea
se

 
D

at
e

A
va

il 
H

rs
 P

er
 

R
el

ea
se

Sc
he

du
le

d 
En

ha
nc

em
en

ts
En

h 
N

o .
Pl

an
ne

d 
H

ou
rs

C
ur

re
nt

 
Es

tim
at

e
%

 C
om

p
R

el
ea

se
C

om
m

en
t

Q
1 

20
08

 
Pa

tc
h

16
97

En
ha

nc
em

en
ts

E
FT

 A
na

ly
si

s
10

0-
01

25
0

25
0

60
%

N
/A

A
 b

as
el

in
e 

re
po

rt 
is

 b
ei

ng
 p

re
pa

re
d 

to
 d

oc
um

en
t t

he
 

cu
rr

en
t s

ta
te

 o
f E

FT
 in

 S
E

R
FF

 a
nd

 a
 s

ur
ve

y 
is

 b
ei

ng
 

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
to

 g
at

he
r i

np
ut

 o
n 

w
ha

t c
ha

ng
es

 u
se

rs
 

w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 to

 s
ee

 re
la

te
d 

to
 e

le
ct

ro
ni

c 
pa

ym
en

ts
. 

S
ur

ve
y 

qu
es

tio
ns

 a
nd

 re
po

rt 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 o
n 

11
/3

0/
07

5/
15

  W
ill

 p
re

se
nt

 a
na

ly
si

s 
to

 B
oa

rd
 to

 d
et

er
m

in
e 

if 
w

e 
sh

ou
ld

 p
ro

ce
ed

 w
ith

 th
e 

su
rv

ey
.

S
ol

e 
S

ys
te

m
 S

ta
te

 A
na

ly
si

s
11

0-
01

25
0

25
0

80
%

N
/A

4 
St

at
e 

Vi
si

ts
:

O
H

--
co

m
pl

et
e,

 A
R

--
co

m
pl

et
e,

 N
C

--
co

m
pl

et
e,

 P
A

--
co

m
pl

et
e

C
on

fe
re

nc
e 

C
al

ls
 (t

en
ta

tiv
e)

:
IN

-C
O

M
P

LE
TE

, C
O

, M
A

-C
O

M
P

LE
TE

, M
I, 

N
H

, N
D

, 
N

M
 

V
is

its
 a

re
 c

om
pl

et
ed

, B
rid

ge
t K

ie
ra

s 
is

 p
la

nn
in

g 
on

 
co

m
pl

et
in

g 
th

e 
co

nf
er

en
ce

 c
al

ls
 w

ith
 s

ta
te

s 
lis

te
d 

ab
ov

e 
by

 e
ar

ly
 J

an
ua

ry
. 

5/
15

 U
se

d 
th

e 
P

S
C

 m
ee

tin
g 

to
 g

at
he

r m
or

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fro

m
 s

ta
te

s.
  T

hi
s 

ha
s 

re
su

lte
d 

in
 th

e 
id

en
tif

ic
at

io
n 

of
 tw

o 
ne

w
 re

po
rt 

fo
r s

ta
te

s 
an

d 
th

e 
re

vi
si

on
 o

f t
he

 4
 e

xi
st

in
g 

re
po

rts
. W

ou
ld

 li
ke

 to
 s

ta
rt 

a 
fo

cu
s 

gr
ou

p 
on

 S
ta

te
 P

ap
er

 T
ra

ck
in

g.
9/

15
 A

dd
iti

on
al

 c
on

fe
re

nc
e 

ca
lls

 a
re

 c
om

pl
et

e.
 W

e 
ne

ed
 d

ire
ct

io
n 

fro
m

 B
oa

rd
 a

s 
to

 w
he

th
er

 o
r n

ot
 to

 
co

nt
in

ue
 c

on
fe

re
nc

e 
ca

lls
 w

ith
 s

ta
te

s 
an

d 
w

he
n 

th
ey

 
w

ou
ld

 li
ke

 th
e 

w
or

k 
co

m
pl

et
ed

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 a

 re
po

rt 
of

 
fin

di
ng

s.
 

Pr
op

os
ed

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t S
ch

ed
ul

e

N
A

IC
 

9/
10

/2
00

9
P

ag
e 

10



S
et

tin
g 

P
ub

lic
 A

cc
es

s
12

0-
01

75
0

50
0

10
0%

v5
.4

S
ur

ve
y 

se
nt

 to
 s

ta
te

s 
to

 c
ol

le
ct

 d
et

ai
l o

n 
th

e 
op

tio
ns

 
th

ey
 w

ou
ld

 p
re

fe
r i

n 
or

de
r t

o 
au

to
m

at
e 

th
e 

m
ar

ki
ng

 o
f 

fil
in

g 
do

cu
m

en
ts

 fo
r P

ub
lic

 A
cc

es
s.

 S
co

pe
 w

as
 c

ut
 

on
 th

is
 e

nh
an

ce
m

en
t--

de
fa

ul
t s

et
tin

gs
 re

ga
rd

in
g 

th
e 

m
ar

ki
ng

 o
f P

ub
lic

 A
cc

es
s 

on
 p

rio
r v

er
si

on
s 

of
 

su
bm

itt
ed

 d
oc

um
en

ts
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

m
ov

ed
 to

 v
5.

5.

IIP
R

C
 E

nh
an

ce
m

en
ts

 2
00

8
13

0-
01

50
0

21
0

10
0%

v5
.4

C
ha

ng
e 

to
 p

re
ve

nt
 fi

lin
g 

su
bm

is
si

on
 if

 II
P

R
C

 A
nn

ua
l 

R
eg

is
tra

tio
n 

Fe
e 

ha
s 

no
t b

ee
n 

pa
id

.
P

re
vi

ou
s 

es
tim

at
e 

w
as

 6
0 

hr
s 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t, 

50
 h

rs
 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 g
at

he
rin

g,
 te

st
in

g 
an

d 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n.

 
A

 d
es

ig
n 

ch
an

ge
 re

qu
es

te
d 

by
 N

A
IC

 a
rc

hi
te

ct
s 

ha
s 

ad
de

d 
50

 h
ou

rs
 to

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t a
nd

 5
0 

ho
ur

s 
to

 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 th

is
 fe

at
ur

e.
 

01
/0

8 
A

 re
qu

es
t w

as
 m

ad
e 

by
 II

P
R

C
 s

ta
ff 

to
 p

re
ve

nt
 

st
at

e 
m

em
be

rs
 fr

om
 c

re
at

in
g 

P
ip

el
in

e 
ve

rs
io

ns
 o

f t
he

 
IIP

R
C

 fi
lin

gs
 th

at
 in

cl
ud

e 
do

cu
m

en
ts

 n
ot

 m
ar

ke
d 

fo
r 

P
ub

lic
 A

cc
es

s 
by

 th
e 

IIP
R

C
. T

hi
s 

w
ill

 b
e 

in
 th

e 
v5

.4
 

re
le

as
e.

 
02

/0
8 

N
A

IC
 F

in
an

ce
 a

nd
 L

eg
al

 d
ep

ts
 h

av
e 

re
qu

es
te

d 
a 

ch
an

ge
 in

 E
FT

 s
o 

th
at

 II
P

R
C

 fu
nd

s 
w

ill
 g

o 
di

re
ct

ly
 

to
 th

e 
IIP

R
C

 a
cc

ou
nt

s.
  

03
/2

0 
A

t t
hi

s 
tim

e 
th

er
e 

ar
e 

no
 o

th
er

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
re

qu
es

ts
 fr

om
 II

P
R

C
. 

Fi
lin

g 
R

ul
es

 C
ha

ng
es

14
0-

01
21

0
10

0%
v5

.4

R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
 g

at
he

rin
g 

an
d 

do
cu

m
en

ta
tio

n 
is

 
co

m
pl

et
e.

 E
st

im
at

es
 w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

un
til

 th
e 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 h
av

e 
be

en
 p

re
se

nt
ed

 to
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
rs

.
R

ed
uc

ed
 fr

om
 3

10
 h

ou
rs

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t t
o 

17
0 

ho
ur

s 
by

 c
ut

tin
g 

sc
op

e 
on

 th
e 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t ,

 2
0 

ho
ur

s 
fo

r 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

co
m

pl
et

ed
. R

ed
uc

ed
 fr

om
 4

0 
ho

ur
s 

te
st

in
g 

to
 2

0 
ho

ur
s 

te
st

in
g 

ba
se

d 
on

 s
co

pe
 

ch
an

ge
s.

 W
ill

 tr
y 

to
 g

et
 re

m
ai

ni
ng

 in
iti

al
 s

co
pe

 o
n 

th
is

 
en

ha
nc

em
en

t i
n 

th
e 

5.
5 

re
le

as
e.

 

S
av

in
g 

E
xp

or
ts

15
0-
01

12
0

10
0%

v5
.4

Th
is

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

t c
am

e 
ou

t o
f t

he
 S

ol
e 

S
ys

te
m

 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 g

at
he

rin
g.

 It
's

 a
 ti

m
e-

sa
ve

 in
 th

at
 it

 w
ill

 
al

lo
w

 a
na

ly
st

s 
to

 s
av

e 
th

ei
r E

xp
or

ts
 in

 th
e 

sa
m

e 
w

ay
 

th
at

 th
ey

 c
ur

re
nt

ly
 c

an
 s

av
e 

S
ea

rc
he

s.
10

0 
H

rs
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t, 

10
 h

ou
rs

 re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

, 1
0 

ho
ur

s 
te

st
in

g
Pl

an
ne

d 
ho

ur
s 

in
 th

is
 re

le
as

e
17

50
15

40

N
A

IC
 

9/
10

/2
00

9
P

ag
e 

11



Q
2 

20
08

47
50

En
ha

nc
em

en
ts

SERFF v5.5

R
ep

or
ts

 1
20

0-
01

75
0

50
0

10
0%

v5
.5

R
ed

uc
ed

 fr
om

 7
50

 h
ou

rs
 to

 5
00

 h
ou

rs
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

W
eb

Fo
cu

s 
re

po
rti

ng
 to

ol
 n

ot
 b

ei
ng

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
to

 
S

E
R

FF
 u

nt
il 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
00

8.
 W

e 
w

ill
 b

ui
ld

 s
om

e 
re

po
rts

 u
si

ng
 th

e 
cu

rr
en

t t
oo

l. 
R

ep
or

ts
 w

ill
 b

e 
ba

se
d 

on
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ga

th
er

ed
 a

t E
-R

eg
, d

ur
in

g 
st

at
e 

vi
si

ts
 

an
d 

co
nf

er
en

ce
 c

al
ls

.
3/

20
 T

he
 p

la
n 

is
 to

 re
w

or
k 

th
e 

fo
ur

 e
xi

st
in

g 
re

po
rts

 
ba

se
d 

on
  P

S
C

 in
pu

t i
n 

M
ar

ch
. T

he
re

 w
ill

 b
e 

an
 

ad
di

tio
na

l t
w

o 
re

po
rts

 c
re

at
ed

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
st

at
e 

in
pu

t 
an

d 
so

m
e 

re
fin

in
g 

do
ne

 b
y 

st
at

es
 p

re
se

nt
 a

t t
he

 P
S

C
 

m
ee

tin
g 

in
 M

ar
ch

.
5/

15
 O

ne
 n

ew
 re

po
rt 

an
d 

re
vi

si
on

s 
to

 tw
o 

ad
di

tio
na

l 
re

po
rts

 w
ill

 b
e 

in
 th

e 
v5

.5
 re

le
as

e.
  

9/
15

 v
5.

5 
ha

d 
on

e 
ne

w
 re

po
rt 

an
d 

re
vi

si
on

s 
to

 o
ne

 
ad

di
tio

na
l r

ep
or

t.

S
ea

rc
hi

ng
 P

D
Fs

 p
t 1

21
0-

01
15

00
15

0
20

%

W
ill

 n
ot

 b
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
 in

 th
is

 re
le

as
e.

 W
ai

tin
g 

fo
r 

O
ra

cl
e 

co
ns

ul
tin

g 
on

 th
e 

D
B

A
 s

id
e 

in
 o

rd
er

 to
 

co
m

pl
et

e 
th

is
 w

or
k.

 P
ro

ba
bl

y 
w

ill
 s

hi
ft 

to
 la

te
 2

00
8 

or
 

ea
rly

 2
00

9.
5/

15
  C

ur
re

nt
 p

la
n 

is
 to

 h
av

e 
th

is
 in

 1
st

 q
tr 

20
09

.
9/

15
 In

iti
al

 w
or

k 
fo

r P
t 1

 is
 c

om
pl

et
e 

w
ith

 n
o 

fe
at

ur
es

 
be

in
g 

m
ov

ed
 to

 p
ro

du
ct

io
n.

  

P
os

t-S
ub

m
is

si
on

 U
pd

at
es

 P
t 1

-A
na

ly
28

0-
01

50
0

80
0

20
%

W
ou

ld
 th

e 
B

oa
rd

 p
re

fe
r t

o 
do

 th
is

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

t 
be

fo
re

 R
em

in
de

rs
? 

W
e 

ge
t m

or
e 

pr
od

uc
tio

n 
qu

es
tio

ns
/is

su
es

 ra
is

ed
 o

ve
r t

hi
s 

on
e 

th
an

 
R

em
in

de
rs

. 
5/

15
 T

hi
s 

w
or

k 
w

ill
 b

e 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 in
 th

e 
5.

6 
re

le
as

e 
fo

r t
he

 ra
te

 d
at

a.
 T

he
re

 a
re

 s
ev

er
al

 m
or

e 
gr

ou
ps

 o
f 

da
ta

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
fo

r c
ha

ng
es

 re
la

te
d 

to
 p

os
t-

su
bm

is
si

on
 b

ut
 th

e 
bu

si
ne

ss
 ru

le
s 

fo
r h

ow
 to

 d
ea

l 
w

ith
 th

os
e 

fie
ld

s,
 p

os
t-s

ub
m

is
si

on
, h

av
e 

no
t y

et
 b

ee
n 

de
fin

ed
. 

9/
15

 In
 J

un
e 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

rs
 re

qu
es

te
d 

m
or

e 
tim

e 
to

 
do

 a
 c

om
pl

et
e 

de
si

gn
 a

na
ly

si
s 

of
 p

os
t-s

ub
m

is
si

on
 

ch
an

ge
s 

to
 fi

lin
gs

. T
he

y 
w

ou
ld

 li
ke

 to
 lo

ok
 fo

r a
 

un
iv

er
sa

l s
ol

ut
io

n 
in

 te
rm

s 
of

 h
ow

 c
ha

ng
ed

 d
at

a 
is

 
ha

nd
le

d 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n.

 

N
A

IC
 

9/
10

/2
00

9
P

ag
e 

12



P
R

L/
R

S
C

 P
ar

t 1
22

0-
01

10
00

12
5

H
ol

d
?

Th
e 

m
aj

or
ity

 o
f t

he
se

 h
ou

rs
 w

er
e 

fo
r a

na
ly

si
s.

 T
he

 
P

S
C

 m
et

 in
 M

ar
ch

 0
8 

an
d 

w
or

ke
d 

on
 re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
. 

N
ex

t s
te

p 
is

 fo
r S

E
R

FF
 s

ta
ff 

to
 c

om
pi

le
 re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 

an
d 

pr
op

os
e 

so
m

e 
op

tio
ns

. W
ith

 th
e 

de
pt

h 
an

d 
br

ea
dt

h 
of

 a
na

ly
si

s 
th

is
 p

ro
je

ct
 is

 g
oi

ng
 to

 re
qu

ire
, i

t 
w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 in
 Q

2 
20

08
. T

im
in

g 
fo

r 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t i
s 

no
w

 g
oi

ng
 to

 d
ep

en
d 

on
 h

ow
 m

uc
h 

w
or

k 
th

e 
P

S
C

 re
co

m
m

m
en

ds
 b

e 
do

ne
. T

he
 B

oa
rd

 
w

ill
 li

ke
ly

 n
ee

d 
to

 w
or

k 
w

ith
 th

e 
P

S
C

 a
s 

th
ei

r 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n 
co

m
es

 b
ac

k 
in

 o
rd

er
 to

 re
-p

rio
rit

iz
e 

th
is

 w
or

k.
 

5/
15

 T
he

 O
E

W
G

 h
as

 d
ev

el
op

ed
 a

 g
ro

up
 to

 lo
ok

 a
t 

P
R

L 
an

d 
de

te
rm

in
e 

w
ha

t c
ha

ng
es

 th
ey

 w
an

t t
o 

ha
ve

 
m

ad
e 

in
 P

R
L.

 
9/

15
 O

E
W

G
 h

as
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
a 

su
bg

ro
up

 to
 w

or
k 

on
 

P
R

L

P
ub

lic
 A

cc
es

s
23

0-
01

25
0

10
0%

v5
.5

M
ar

ki
ng

 p
rio

r v
er

si
on

s 
by

 d
ef

au
lt.

 T
hi

s 
is

 th
e 

re
m

ai
nd

er
 o

f t
he

 s
co

pe
 c

ut
 fr

om
 v

5.
4.

P
ip

el
in

e 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
24

0-
01

50
0

25
0

10
0%

v5
.5

Th
is

 w
or

k 
is

 b
ei

ng
 d

on
e 

to
 im

pr
ov

e 
ov

er
al

l s
ys

te
m

 
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 w
he

n 
P

ip
el

in
e 

is
 b

ei
ng

 u
til

iz
ed

. 

Fi
lin

g 
R

ul
es

14
0-

02
14

0
10

0%
v5

.5

Th
is

 is
 a

no
th

er
 p

ie
ce

 o
f F

ili
ng

 R
ul

es
 w

or
k 

th
at

 w
as

 
cu

t f
ro

m
 v

5.
4.

 T
hi

s 
is

 a
 S

ub
m

is
si

on
s 

R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
 

re
po

rt.

R
es

po
ns

es
 P

t 1
25

0-
01

75
0

25
0

10
0%

03
/0

8
If 

w
e 

m
ov

e 
up

 th
e 

re
le

as
e 

da
te

 fo
r v

5.
5,

 th
e 

re
sp

on
se

 p
ie

ce
 w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 v
5.

5.
5/

15
 tw

o 
po

rti
on

s 
of

 th
e 

R
es

po
ns

e 
w

or
k 

ar
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
 b

ut
 n

ot
 re

le
as

ed
. T

he
 P

S
C

 w
ill

 n
ee

d 
to

 
m

ak
e 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

 o
n 

th
e 

fin
al

 p
or

tio
n 

of
 th

is
 

be
fo

re
 th

e 
en

tir
e 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t c

an
 b

e 
fin

is
he

d 
an

d 
re

le
as

ed
.

9/
15

 T
hi

s 
w

or
k 

w
as

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 in

 2
00

8 
bu

t n
ot

 
re

le
as

ed
 b

ec
au

se
 P

t 2
 a

nd
 P

t 3
 w

er
e 

no
t r

ea
dy

. A
ll 

th
re

e 
pi

ec
es

 w
ill

 b
e 

go
 in

to
 p

ro
du

ct
io

n 
in

 v
5.

6.

P
ip

el
in

e
24

0-
02

50
0

30
0

10
0

v.
5.

5

9/
15

 T
hi

s 
w

or
k 

w
as

 p
rio

rit
iz

ed
 fo

r 5
.5

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
th

e 
ne

ed
 to

 im
pr

ov
e 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
. P

ip
el

in
e 

ge
ts

 m
uc

h 
m

or
e 

us
ag

e 
th

an
 e

st
im

at
ed

 s
o 

m
on

ito
rs

 w
er

e 
pu

t i
n 

pl
ac

e 
to

 a
llo

w
 th

e 
te

am
 to

 m
ea

su
re

 u
sa

ge
. B

as
ed

 o
n 

us
ag

e 
pa

tte
rn

s,
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 to
 P

ip
el

in
e 

ca
n 

be
 m

ad
e.

 

N
A

IC
 

9/
10

/2
00

9
P

ag
e 

13



N
A

IC
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

 R
eq

ui
re

m
en

t O
A

S
26

0-
01

75
0

25
0

20
%

v5
.6

E
st

im
at

e 
re

vi
se

d 
to

 2
50

 h
ou

rs
. I

t i
s 

an
tic

ip
at

ed
 th

at
 

m
os

t o
f t

hi
s 

tim
e 

w
ill

 b
e 

sp
en

t i
n 

te
st

in
g 

as
 th

er
e 

sh
ou

ld
 n

ot
 b

e 
m

an
y 

co
di

ng
 c

ha
ng

es
 th

at
 h

av
e 

to
 b

e 
m

ad
e.

 
9/

15
 O

A
S

 w
ill

 b
e 

im
pl

em
en

te
d 

w
ith

 S
E

R
FF

 v
5.

6 
in

 
ea

rly
 2

00
9

N
A

IC
 In

iti
at

iv
e 

(L
D

A
P

)
27

0-
01

0
18

0
10

0%
v5

.6
.1

Th
is

 is
 a

 Q
4 

20
08

 in
iti

at
iv

e 
th

at
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

m
ov

ed
 to

 
Q

2 
to

 m
ee

t N
A

IC
 te

ch
no

lo
gy

 d
ea

dl
in

es
. W

e 
m

ay
 

ha
ve

 to
 d

el
ay

 th
e 

Q
2 

re
le

as
e 

to
 Q

3 
ba

se
d 

on
 h

ow
 

th
e 

ro
llo

ut
 o

f L
D

A
P

 a
nd

 O
A

S
 g

o 
w

ith
 o

th
er

 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
ar

ea
s 

in
 th

e 
N

A
IC

.
03

/0
8 

M
ov

in
g 

th
is

 p
ie

ce
 b

ac
k 

to
 Q

4 
08

 d
ue

 to
 N

A
IC

 
IS

 s
ch

ed
ul

e.
9/

15
 L

D
A

P
 fo

r S
E

R
FF

 is
 o

n 
th

e 
sc

he
du

le
 fo

r e
ar

ly
 

20
09

. W
ill

 li
ke

ly
 b

e 
a 

pa
tc

h 
re

le
as

e 
on

e 
m

on
th

 a
fte

r 
th

e 
O

A
S

 im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
(w

hi
ch

 w
ill

 o
cc

ur
 in

 la
te

 
Ja

n2
00

9)
.  

Pl
an

ne
d 

ho
ur

s 
in

 th
is

 re
le

as
e

62
50

31
95

Q
4 

20
08

(N
ow

 Q
1 

20
09

)
48

63
En

ha
nc

em
en

ts

P
R

L/
R

S
C

 P
ar

t I
I

22
0-

02
20

00
0

9/
15

 P
R

L 
is

 c
ur

re
nt

ly
 b

ei
ng

 a
na

ly
ze

d 
by

 a
nd

 O
E

W
G

 
su

bg
ro

up
. S

E
R

FF
's

 P
S

C
 w

ill
 w

or
k 

on
 a

na
ly

si
s 

fo
r 

in
te

gr
at

io
n 

in
to

 S
E

R
FF

 o
nc

e 
th

e 
su

bg
ro

up
's

 w
or

k 
is

 
co

m
pl

et
e.

SERFF v5.6

R
es

po
ns

es
 P

t 2
 &

 3
25

0-
02

75
0

50
0

70
%

v5
.6

03
/0

8
If 

w
e 

m
ov

e 
up

 th
e 

re
le

as
e 

da
te

 fo
r v

5.
5,

 th
e 

re
sp

on
se

 p
ie

ce
 w

ill
 n

ot
 b

e 
in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 v
5.

5.
5/

15
 tw

o 
po

rti
on

s 
of

 th
e 

R
es

po
ns

e 
w

or
k 

ar
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
 b

ut
 n

ot
 re

le
as

ed
. T

he
 P

S
C

 w
ill

 n
ee

d 
to

 
m

ak
e 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

 o
n 

th
e 

fin
al

 p
or

tio
n 

of
 th

is
 

be
fo

re
 th

e 
en

tir
e 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t c

an
 b

e 
fin

is
he

d 
an

d 
re

le
as

ed
.

9/
15

 T
hi

s 
w

or
k 

w
as

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 in

 2
00

8 
bu

t n
ot

 
re

le
as

ed
 b

ec
au

se
 P

t 2
 a

nd
 P

t 3
 w

er
e 

no
t r

ea
dy

. A
ll 

th
re

e 
pi

ec
es

 w
ill

 b
e 

go
 in

to
 p

ro
du

ct
io

n 
in

 v
5.

6.

N
A

IC
 

9/
10

/2
00

9
P

ag
e 

14



Fi
el

d-
ba

se
d 

G
en

er
al

 In
st

ru
ct

io
ns

 P
t 1

30
0-

01
50

0
40

0
85

%
v5

.6

5/
15

 R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
 a

re
 b

ei
ng

 d
oc

um
en

te
d 

no
w

. T
he

 
fir

st
 p

or
tio

n 
of

 th
is

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

t s
ho

ul
d 

go
 in

to
 th

e 
v5

.6
 re

le
as

e 
w

ith
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 m
od

ifi
ca

tio
ns

 to
 b

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

fo
r s

ub
se

qu
en

t r
el

ea
se

s.
9/

15
 A

dd
ed

 a
 fi

el
d 

se
t f

or
 v

5.
6.

 W
ill

 a
dd

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 

fie
ld

s 
an

d 
a 

se
ar

ch
 fe

at
ur

e 
in

 a
 fu

tu
re

 re
le

as
e.

S
ta

te
 S

ol
e 

S
ys

te
m

-P
ap

er
 L

et
te

r 
Te

m
pl

at
e 

(th
is

 w
as

 a
 p

la
ce

ho
ld

er
 fo

r a
 s

ta
te

 
en

ha
nc

em
en

t. 
W

e 
en

de
d 

up
 d

oi
ng

 
ad

di
tio

na
l r

ep
or

ts
--P

ro
du

ct
iv

ity
an

d 
a 

Fi
lin

g 
by

 T
O

I R
ep

or
t.

75
0

0

M
ay

 e
nd

 u
p 

be
in

g 
a 

di
ffe

re
nt

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

t; 
de

pe
nd

s 
on

 s
ol

e 
st

at
e 

an
al

ys
is

03
/2

0 
Th

is
 e

nh
an

ce
m

en
t w

as
 m

or
e 

of
 a

 p
la

ce
ho

ld
er

 
fo

r a
 s

ta
te

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

t. 
W

e 
ar

e 
no

t g
et

tin
g 

re
qu

es
ts

 fo
r a

 le
tte

r t
em

pl
at

e 
fe

at
ur

e 
in

 S
E

R
FF

, n
or

 
do

 w
e 

ha
ve

 a
 la

rg
e 

re
qu

es
t f

or
 o

th
er

 s
ta

te
 

en
ha

nc
em

en
ts

 s
o 

su
sp

en
di

ng
 th

is
 w

or
k 

sh
ou

ld
 n

ot
 

cr
ea

te
 a

 b
ig

 im
pa

ct
. S

ug
ge

st
in

g 
w

e 
re

du
ce

 th
e 

ho
ur

s 
fro

m
 7

50
 to

 3
00

 a
nd

 m
ak

e 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 to

 S
ta

te
 

P
ap

er
 T

ra
ck

in
g 

in
st

ea
d.

R
ep

or
ts

 2
20

0-
02

30
0

70
%

v5
.6

9/
15

P
ro

du
ct

iv
ity

 a
nd

 F
ili

ng
s 

B
y 

TO
I R

ep
or

ts
 w

er
e 

im
pr

ov
ed

 in
 v

5.
6 

ba
se

d 
on

 P
S

C
 fe

ed
ba

ck
.

IIR
P

C
 E

nh
an

ce
m

en
ts

 2
00

8
31

0-
01

0
0

0%

IIP
R

C
 m

ay
 h

av
e 

en
ou

gh
 o

f t
he

ir 
fe

e 
an

al
ys

is
 

co
m

pl
et

e 
th

at
 th

ey
 c

an
 u

se
 2

00
8 

ho
ur

s 
to

 h
av

e 
th

e 
fe

e 
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

in
 p

la
ce

 b
y 

Q
4 

20
08

 s
o 

th
at

 it
 is

 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

fo
r u

se
 b

y 
1/

1/
09

03
/2

0 
Th

is
 e

nh
an

ce
m

en
t w

ill
 p

ro
ba

bl
y 

ne
ed

 to
 s

ta
y 

in
 

th
e 

sc
he

du
le

 if
 II

P
R

C
 d

et
er

m
in

es
 a

 m
ea

ns
 to

 h
an

dl
e 

fe
es

 g
oi

ng
 fo

rw
ar

d.
 

5/
15

 II
P

R
C

 w
ill

 n
ee

d 
to

 id
en

tif
y 

en
ha

nc
em

en
ts

 p
rio

r 
to

 6
/1

5/
08

 in
 o

rd
er

 to
 g

et
 th

em
 in

to
 th

e 
5.

6 
re

le
as

e.
9/

15
 a

s 
of

 th
is

 ti
m

e,
 th

e 
IIP

R
C

 h
as

 n
ot

 re
qu

es
te

d 
en

ha
nc

m
en

ts
 n

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

co
m

pl
et

e 
bu

si
ne

ss
 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 fo
r a

ny
 e

nh
an

ce
m

en
ts

 in
 th

e 
v5

.6
 

re
le

as
e.

 

P
ip

el
in

e 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
24

0-
03

30
0

30
0

20
%

v5
.6

?

9/
15

A
dd

iti
on

al
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 to

 P
ip

lin
e 

w
ill

 b
e 

m
ad

e 
ba

se
d 

on
 th

e 
br

ow
se

r/A
cr

ob
at

 c
on

fli
ct

s 
un

co
ve

re
d 

w
ith

 v
5.

5.
 T

hi
s 

w
or

k 
m

ay
 g

o 
in

to
 a

 la
te

 fa
ll 

pa
tc

h 
if 

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 a

re
 a

nt
ic

ip
at

ed
.

Fi
le

 A
tta

ch
m

en
t U

pl
oa

d 
R

es
tri

ct
io

n
32

0-
01

25
0

50
80

%
v5

.6
9/

15
ap

pr
ov

ed
 b

y 
P

S
C

 to
 im

pr
ov

e 
P

ip
el

in
e 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
.

N
A

IC
 

9/
10

/2
00

9
P

ag
e 

15



B
ill

in
g 

E
xp

or
t

33
0-

01
12

0
12

0
80

%
v5

.6

9/
15

To
 a

llo
w

 c
us

to
m

er
s 

to
 e

xp
or

t t
he

ir 
bi

lli
ng

 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n.
 P

S
C

 w
as

 u
pd

at
ed

 o
n 

th
is

 w
or

k 
pr

io
r t

o 
its

 c
om

pl
et

io
n.

 

S
ea

rc
hi

ng
 P

D
Fs

 P
t 2

21
0-

02
15

00
35

0
0%

v5
.7

R
ed

uc
ed

 h
ou

rs
 e

st
im

at
e 

ba
se

d 
on

 c
ur

re
nt

 a
na

ly
si

s.
9/

15
 re

le
as

e 
sc

he
du

le
 w

ill
 d

ep
en

d 
on

 c
on

su
lti

ng
 

se
rv

ic
es

 n
ee

de
d 

by
 D

at
ab

as
e 

A
dm

in
is

tra
to

rs
. 

Pl
an

ne
d 

ho
ur

s 
in

 th
is

 re
le

as
e

61
70

20
20

Q
1 

20
09

 
Pa

tc
h

15
27

En
ha

nc
em

en
ts

IIP
R

C
 E

nh
an

ce
m

en
ts

 2
00

9
40

0-
01

50
0

50
0

?

If 
w

e 
ge

t t
he

 fe
e 

fe
at

ur
e 

in
 th

e 
la

te
 0

8 
re

le
as

e.
 W

e 
ca

n 
pr

ob
ab

ly
 w

ai
t u

nt
il 

Q
2 

09
 to

 s
ta

rt 
w

or
ki

ng
 o

n 
ad

di
tio

na
l e

nh
an

ce
m

en
ts

 fo
r t

he
 II

P
R

C
. T

he
se

 h
ou

rs
 

ar
e 

on
ly

 a
 p

la
ce

ho
ld

er
 a

t t
hi

s 
tim

e;
 n

o 
ad

di
tio

na
l 

re
qu

es
ts

 h
av

e 
be

en
 m

ad
e 

by
 II

P
R

C
.

9/
15

  W
ai

tin
g 

fo
r f

in
al

 d
ec

is
io

n 
fro

m
 II

P
R

C
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t C

om
m

itt
ee

. 
N

A
IC

 In
iti

at
iv

e 
(L

D
A

P
)

27
0-

02
15

00
57

0
10

%
v5

.6
.x

Q
1 

20
09

 re
le

as
e 

ba
se

d 
on

 c
ur

re
nt

 N
A

IC
 e

st
im

at
es

.

N
A

IC
 T

ec
hn

ol
og

y 
R

eq
ui

re
m

en
t I

I
41

0-
01

75
0

75
0

15
%

v5
.6

.x

Th
is

 is
 ju

st
 a

 p
la

ce
ho

ld
er

--
as

su
m

in
g 

th
er

e 
w

ou
ld

 b
e 

so
m

e 
ki

nd
 o

f N
A

IC
 in

iti
at

iv
e 

 w
ith

 w
hi

ch
 S

E
R

FF
 

w
ou

ld
 n

ee
d 

to
 c

om
pl

y.
 

3/
20

 A
s 

of
 th

is
 d

at
e,

 th
er

e 
ar

e 
no

 n
ew

 N
A

IC
 

in
iti

at
iv

es
 p

la
nn

ed
. H

ow
ev

er
, d

ep
en

di
ng

 o
n 

ho
w

 L
D

P
 

is
 im

pl
em

en
te

d,
 th

er
e 

m
ay

 b
e 

m
or

e 
LD

A
P

 w
or

k 
to

 
co

m
pl

et
e 

in
 2

00
9.

9/
15

 T
hi

s 
pl

ac
eh

ol
de

r w
ill

 b
e 

us
ed

 fo
r t

he
 C

ha
ra

ct
er

 
S

et
 C

on
ve

rs
io

n.

Pl
an

ne
d 

ho
ur

s 
in

 th
is

 re
le

as
e

27
50

18
20

Q
2 

20
09

42
75

En
ha

nc
em

en
ts

Fi
el

d-
ba

se
d 

G
en

er
al

 In
st

ru
ct

io
ns

 P
t 2

30
0-

02
50

0
50

0
0%

9/
15

 B
oa

rd
 w

ill
 n

ee
d 

to
 p

rio
rit

iz
e.

 T
hi

s 
en

ha
nc

em
en

t 
co

ul
d 

in
cl

ud
e 

ad
di

tio
na

l f
ie

ld
s 

an
d 

a 
se

ar
ch

 fe
at

ur
e.

N
A

IC
 

9/
10

/2
00

9
P

ag
e 

16



P
os

t-S
ub

m
is

si
on

 U
pd

at
es

28
0-

02
50

0
80

0
20

%

W
ou

ld
 th

e 
B

oa
rd

 p
re

fe
r t

o 
do

 th
is

 e
nh

an
ce

m
en

t 
be

fo
re

 R
em

in
de

rs
? 

W
e 

ge
t m

or
e 

pr
od

uc
tio

n 
qu

es
tio

ns
/is

su
es

 ra
is

ed
 o

ve
r t

hi
s 

on
e 

th
an

 
R

em
in

de
rs

. 
5/

15
 T

hi
s 

w
or

k 
w

ill
 b

e 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 in
 th

e 
5.

6 
re

le
as

e 
fo

r t
he

 ra
te

 d
at

a.
 T

he
re

 a
re

 s
ev

er
al

 m
or

e 
gr

ou
ps

 o
f 

da
ta

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
fo

r c
ha

ng
es

 re
la

te
d 

to
 p

os
t-

su
bm

is
si

on
 b

ut
 th

e 
bu

si
ne

ss
 ru

le
s 

fo
r h

ow
 to

 d
ea

l 
w

ith
 th

os
e 

fie
ld

s,
 p

os
t-s

ub
m

is
si

on
, h

av
e 

no
t y

et
 b

ee
n 

de
fin

ed
. 

9/
15

 In
 J

un
e 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

rs
 re

qu
es

te
d 

m
or

e 
tim

e 
to

 
do

 a
 c

om
pl

et
e 

de
si

gn
 a

na
ly

si
s 

of
 p

os
t-s

ub
m

is
si

on
 

ch
an

ge
s 

to
 fi

lin
gs

. T
he

y 
w

ou
ld

 li
ke

 to
 lo

ok
 fo

r a
 

un
iv

er
sa

l s
ol

ut
io

n 
in

 te
rm

s 
of

 h
ow

 c
ha

ng
ed

 d
at

a 
is

 
ha

nd
le

d 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n.

 

R
em

in
de

rs
31

0-
01

75
0

75
0

It'
s 

lik
el

y 
th

at
 w

e 
co

ul
d 

ge
t t

hi
s 

fe
at

ur
e 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 th

e 
Q

1 
09

 re
le

as
e,

 u
nl

es
s 

th
e 

B
oa

rd
 w

ou
ld

 p
re

fe
r t

o 
re

pl
ac

e 
th

is
 w

ith
 P

os
t-S

ub
m

is
si

on
 U

pd
at

es
.

9/
15

 T
hi

s 
en

ha
nc

em
en

t w
as

 m
ov

ed
 fr

om
 th

e 
Q

1 
09

 
P

at
ch

.
Pl

an
ne

d 
ho

ur
s 

in
 th

is
 re

le
as

e
52

50
46

20

R
e-

pr
io

rit
iz

e
43

77
En

ha
nc

em
en

ts
C

on
cu

rr
en

t R
at

e/
Fo

rm
 R

ev
ie

w
30

00
30

00
S

ta
te

 S
ol

e 
S

ys
te

m
 F

ea
tu

re
 M

 (T
B

D
)

75
0

75
0

P
ip

el
in

e 
La

yo
ut

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

50
0

50
0

M
es

sa
ge

s 
fo

r F
ili

ng
 R

ul
e 

C
ha

ng
es

50
0

50
0

Fo
rm

-d
riv

en
 F

ili
ng

s
40

00
40

00
P

R
L 

30
00

30
00

N
A

IC
 

9/
10

/2
00

9
P

ag
e 

17



En
ha

nc
em

en
t B

lo
ck

H
rs

 E
st

< 
50

0 
H

rs
P

ip
el

in
e

50
0

M
es

sa
ge

s 
fo

r F
ili

ng
 R

ul
e 

C
ha

ng
es

50
0

Fi
el

d-
ba

se
d 

G
en

er
al

 In
st

ru
ct

io
ns

50
0

P
os

t-S
ub

m
is

si
on

 U
pd

at
es

50
0

IIP
R

C
 E

nh
an

ce
m

en
ts

 2
00

8
50

0
IIP

R
C

 E
nh

an
ce

m
en

ts
 2

00
9

50
0

IIP
R

C
 E

nh
an

ce
m

en
ts

 2
01

0
50

0
S

ta
te

 S
ol

e 
S

ys
te

m
 F

ea
tu

re
 S

 (T
B

D
)

50
0

E
FT

 A
na

ly
si

s
25

0

> 
50

0 
an

d 
< 

75
0 

H
rs

R
es

po
ns

es
75

0
R

em
in

de
rs

75
0

S
ta

te
 S

ol
e 

S
ys

te
m

 S
et

tin
g 

P
ub

lic
 A

cc
es

s
75

0
S

ta
te

 S
ol

e 
S

ys
te

m
-P

ap
er

 L
et

te
r T

em
pl

at
e 

75
0

N
A

IC
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

 R
eq

ui
re

m
en

t O
A

S
75

0
N

A
IC

 T
ec

hn
ol

og
y 

R
eq

ui
re

m
en

t I
I

75
0

S
ta

te
 S

ol
e 

S
ys

te
m

 F
ea

tu
re

 M
 (T

B
D

)
75

0

> 
75

0 
an

d 
< 

15
00

 H
rs

S
ea

rc
hi

ng
 P

D
F'

s
15

00
R

ep
or

ts
 I 

(B
O

D
 d

ro
pp

ed
 to

 7
50

 h
rs

)
15

00
R

ep
or

ts
 II

15
00

N
A

IC
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

 R
eq

ui
re

m
en

t I
II

15
00

P
R

L/
R

S
C

 P
ar

t I
10

00
N

A
IC

 In
iti

at
iv

e 
(L

D
A

P
)

15
00

> 
15

00
 a

nd
 <

 4
00

0 
H

rs
P

R
L/

R
S

C
 P

ar
t I

I
20

00
Fo

rm
-d

riv
en

 F
ili

ng
s

40
00

C
on

cu
rr

en
t R

at
e/

Fo
rm

 R
ev

ie
w

30
00

>4
00

0 
H

r
W

eb
-b

as
ed

 P
ub

lic
 A

cc
es

s 
(a

pp
ro

x 
5k

 h
rs

)
50

00

Pr
op

os
ed

 E
nh

an
ce

m
en

ts

N
A

IC
 

9/
10

/2
00

9
P

ag
e 

18



C
O

LU
M

N
 D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N
S

C
ol

um
n 

A
-E

 d
is

pl
ay

 th
e 

pr
op

os
ed

 s
ch

ed
ul

e 
fo

r d
ev

el
op

m
en

t b
eg

in
ni

ng
 w

ith
 

Q
1 

20
08

.
C

ol
um

n 
F-

G
 d

is
pl

ay
 th

e 
pr

op
os

ed
 e

nh
an

ce
m

en
ts

, i
n 

bl
oc

ks
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

es
tim

at
ed

 s
iz

e.
C

ol
um

n 
A

 s
ho

w
s 

th
e 

sc
he

du
le

 re
le

as
e 

ba
se

d 
on

 2
 fu

ll 
re

le
as

es
 e

ac
h 

ye
ar

 
an

d 
on

e 
'p

at
ch

' r
el

ea
se

 fo
r b

ug
 fi

xe
s 

an
d 

sm
al

le
r e

nh
an

ce
m

en
ts

.
C

ol
um

n 
B

 s
ho

w
s 

th
e 

to
ta

l n
um

be
r o

f h
ou

rs
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

in
 th

e 
re

le
as

e.
 T

hi
s 

in
cl

ud
es

 re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 g
at

he
rin

g,
 d

oc
um

en
ta

tio
n,

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t, 
te

st
in

g,
 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
po

st
-r

el
ea

se
 c

le
an

up
.

C
ol

um
n 

C
 d

is
pl

ay
s 

th
e 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t p

ro
po

se
d 

fo
r e

ac
h 

re
le

as
e 

(th
es

e 
w

er
e 

pu
lle

d 
fro

m
 C

ol
um

n 
F-

G
).

C
ol

um
n 

D
 s

ho
w

s 
th

e 
m

ax
im

um
 h

ou
rs

 c
ur

re
nt

ly
 e

st
im

at
ed

 fo
r t

he
 

en
ha

nc
em

en
t. 

Th
es

e 
ar

e 
su

bj
ec

t t
o 

ch
an

ge
, u

p 
or

 d
ow

n,
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

de
ta

ile
d 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

. 
C

ol
um

n 
G

 m
ax

im
um

 to
ta

l h
ou

rly
 e

st
im

at
e.

 P
R

L 
es

tim
at

es
 a

re
 in

 tw
o 

se
pa

ra
te

 b
lo

ck
s 

be
ca

us
e 

w
e 

su
sp

ec
t t

he
 fu

nc
tio

na
lit

y 
co

ul
d 

be
 s

ep
ar

at
ed

. 
C

on
ve

rs
el

y,
 W

eb
-b

as
ed

 P
ub

lic
 A

cc
es

s 
ha

s 
be

en
 b

ro
ke

n 
in

to
 tw

o 
pi

ec
es

 b
ut

 
is

 li
st

ed
 in

 th
e 

sa
m

e 
bl

oc
k 

(>
4,

00
0 

H
rs

) b
ec

au
se

 it
 is

 u
nl

ik
el

y 
th

e 
fir

st
 p

or
tio

n 
w

ill
 b

e 
ac

ce
ss

ib
le

 u
nt

il 
af

te
r t

he
 s

ec
on

d 
is

 c
om

pl
et

ed
.  

N
A

IC
 

9/
10

/2
00

9
P

ag
e 

19





G:\DATA\SERFF\Board\NatlMeeting\Sept 2009 -DC\Handouts\Both\Development Update Sept 2009.doc 

 
Memo 

To: SERFF Board of Directors 

From: Bridget Kieras, SERFF Product Support Manager 

CC: Julie Fritz, Joy Morrison  

Date: September 4, 2009 

Re: SERFF Development Update  

SERFF 5.7 was released to production on August 12.  The release introduced several new enhancements 
for SERFF, including a Reminders Tool, State Rate Data, additional Correspondence fields in the Export 
Tool, a search for General Instructions, expansion of the ability to request filing confidentiality, and a PDF 
search feature. The PDF search feature is currently being enabled for select users as part of a pilot to fine-
tune the functionality and ensure it does not negatively impact system performance.  Two patches were also 
released in August to correct issues introduced with the 5.7 release.   
 
SERFF 5.8 is in development and includes two major changes to the application – incorporation of the 
IIPRC Statement of Intent into a new filing schedule and the ability to update a number of fields, including 
Rate Data, after submission of the filing.  The release is scheduled for December 9. 
 
The Product Steering Committee has begun discussing various enhancements for 2010 and beyond.  Some 
of the enhancements are based on user submitted design suggestions while others are items from the 
Board’s strategic development plan.  The PSC recently discussed allowing multiple Types/Sub-Types of 
Insurance on a single filing.  Initial feedback has also been gathered for the Rate and Form Concurrent 
review project.   
 
The SERFF team is hoping to move to quarterly releases in 2010.  The planned release months are 
February, May, August, and November.  The team believes smaller but more frequent releases will be more 
manageable for development and testing.   



 1  
 

Memo 

To: SERFF Board of Directors and Interested Parties 

From: Thea Cook, Product Implementation Manager 

CC: Joy Morrison, Senior Manager II – SERFF 

Julie Fritz, Director, Insurance Products & Services Division 

Date: Sept. 9, 2009 

Re: State Implementation Update 

 

SERFF State Implementation 

The Implementation Team has been focusing on state satisfaction monitoring and general support. As reported at 
the Summer National Meeting, nearly all states have implemented SERFF for all lines and speed-to-market 
initiatives. By doing so, the states have demonstrated their willingness to achieve uniformity that benefits 
themselves, the industry and, ultimately, the consumer. Since the last national meeting, Kentucky implemented all 
health lines of business with the Product Coding Matrix, thereby becoming the 50th state to implement the Product 
Coding Matrix in all business areas.     

Since the Summer National Meeting, two SERFF mandates went into effect and two states announced SERFF 
mandates.  New Mexico’s mandate went into effect June 19 and Oklahoma’s mandate, which included EFT, went 
into effect July 14. Georgia expanded their current mandate to include life and health business areas, effective 
Oct. 1. Maine announced their SERFF mandate in late August, to include all business areas and EFT. Maine’s 
mandate is effective Sept. 12.  

Fifty states, DC and Puerto Rico accept filings via SERFF. Of those states, 51 accept all major lines for life, 51 for 
health and 51 for property/casualty. Twenty-one states have mandated SERFF and 12 states have mandated EFT.  

 

EFT 

Since the Summer National Meeting, two states have implemented EFT: New Mexico and Mississippi. State 
implementation is nearly complete for those states that charge fees at the time of submission. Staff are hopeful to 
have the remaining states implemented by year-end.  

 



 2  
 

Conclusion 
 
Overall, implementation goals for 2009 are on target and nearly all states should be fully implemented for all 
speed-to-market initiatives this year.  
 
                                                
 
 
State Initiative Implementation 

 
EFT 27 states have implemented. 

Product Coding Matrix 50 states representing 150 business areas have implemented. Fifty 
states fully implemented. 

SERFF Integrated Uniform 
Transmittal Document 

49 states utilize the Uniform Transmittal Document as built in 
SERFF. 

Product Requirements Locator 26 states P&C, 2 life, 1 health implemented. Five states are in 
progress. 

  

 



1 

Memo 

To: SERFF Board of Directors and Interested Parties 

From: Thea Cook, Product Implementation Manager 

CC: Joy Morrison, Senior Manager II – SERFF 

Julie Fritz, Director, Insurance Products & Services Division 

Date: Sept. 9, 2009 

Re: Marketing Update 

SERFF Company Implementation 
Since the Summer National Meeting, the Marketing Team has licensed 57 companies, primarily due to the state 
SERFF mandates in Michigan, New Mexico and Oklahoma. More than 2,900 unique companies are currently 
licensed.   
 
Usage 
SERFF usage through July 2009 is down approximately 6% compared to the same time last year. Due to a decent 
first quarter, usage for the first six months of 2009 is roughly 5% over the budgeted transactions; however, April 
through July actual transactions were less than budgeted in each month.  
 
EFT 
With EFT mandates and general EFT implementation, the Marketing Team has implemented approximately 50 
companies since the Summer National Meeting. Nearly 2,700 companies have implemented EFT — roughly 93% 
of our total number of unique licensed companies.            
 
Events 
The Marketing Team participated via the Web during the E-Day conference hosted by the Northwest Chapter of 
the Association of Insurance Compliance Professionals (AICP). The team also took part in Compliance Day at the 
Louisiana Insurance Department. For both events, the team provided updates on SERFF, including upcoming 
releases and a question/answer session. 
 
Conclusion 
Even though the current state of the market seems to be influencing overall SERFF usage the latter part of 2009, 
SERFF continues to prove it is the ultimate speed-to-market tool. With the recently announced Maine mandate, 21 
states have mandated SERFF and 12 states have mandated EFT for the payment of filing fees.  
 
 
G:\DATA\SERFF\Board\NatlMeeting\Sept 2009 -DC\Handouts\Both\MarketingUpdate_Sept2009_BODUpdate.doc 



 1  
 

Memo 

To: SERFF Board of Directors and Interested Parties 

From: Joy Morrison, Senior Manager II – SERFF 

CC: Julie Fritz, Director, Insurance Products & Services Division 

Date: Sept. 9, 2009 

Re: SERFF Board Elections 

The election process for the SERFF Board, for seats beginning January 2010, will follow this estimated timeline: 

Fall National Meeting Appoint a nominating committee.  

Oct. 5 Send request for nominations. 

Nov. 2 Review candidate submissions (nominating committee). 

Nov. 9 Name nominees (nominating committee). 

Nov. 10 Distribute ballots to voting contacts. 

Nov. 23 Announce new Board members. 

 

The following Board members have terms expiring Dec. 31, 2009: 

Industry: 
• Kim Kennedy, Travelers 
• Fred Alvarado, Transamerica 

 
Trade:  

• Hank Edmiston (PCI Representative) 
• The property/casualty trade seat will rotate to American Insurance Association (AIA) 

 
State: 

• Bill Lacy, Arkansas 
• Susan E. Voss, Iowa 



Attachment  
SERFF Board of Directors 

9/22/09 
 

Draft: 8/26/09 
SERFF Board of Directors 

Conference Call 
August 12, 2009 

 
The SERFF Board of Directors met via conference call Aug. 12, 2009. The following members participated: Mary Jo 
Hudson, Chair (OH); Susan Eckler-Kerns, Vice Chair (Prudential); Susan E. Voss (IA); Bill Lacy (AR); Tammy Lohman 
(MN); Ted Hamby (NC); Kathie Stepp (OK); Elaine Leighton (American Council of Life Insurers—ACLI); Hank Edmiston 
(Property Casualty Insurers Association of America—PCI); Fred Alvarado (Transamerica); and Kim Kennedy represented by 
Susan Eckler-Kerns (Prudential).  
 
The following ex-officio members participated: Maureen Hartsmith (NH); Karen Schutter and Charlie Rapacciuolo (IIPRC); 
and Sonja Larkin-Thorne (NAIC Consumer Representative).  
  
1. Financial Illustrations/Budget  
 
Julie Fritz (NAIC) referred to the financial illustrations that were discussed briefly on the last call, reformatted and then 
distributed to the Board July 16. Board members were given an opportunity to review the illustrations and submit any 
comments or suggestions prior to the conference call. It was noted that no comments or questions had been submitted. Upon 
request to consider approval of the 2010 proposed budget, industry members of the Board expressed hesitation. It was 
suggested that there should be an independent audit to validate the accuracy of data presented in the financial illustrations. 
Mr. Edmiston asked that this item be included on the agenda for the next meeting.  
 
2. Strategic Plan Update  
 
Joy Morrison (NAIC) referred the Board to the strategic plan distributed prior to the meeting. Discussion centered on the 
form-driven filings project and the enhancements and features included. The items recommended for potential development 
prior to the PRL redesign have been included. The Filing Rules maintenance work was expanded to include the feature to 
display Types of Insurance (TOIs) and the sub-TOIs that apply for each requirement and put them on the requirements page. 
Further analysis is in progress with the Product Steering Committee (PSC). There have been several individual items added, 
such as incorporating the filing method and mode into the submission of requirements and allowing for multiple TOIs and 
sub-TOIs on a single filing. A survey regarding the former is being considered by the PSC.  
 
3. Public Access Demonstration Follow-Up 
 
Ms. Morrison reported that there approximately 75–80 participants for the first demonstration and approximately 85 for the 
second demonstration. Three additional sessions have been set up to handle the overflow of requests, which will make a total 
of five demonstrations. The Board decided to include an agenda item for the SERFF Board open session at the Fall National 
Meeting to allow comments from interested parties on the issue of allowing internet access to SERFF filings that the state has 
indicated should be available for public viewing. NAIC staff was asked to draft the notice, distribute it and collect comments 
prior to the meeting.  
 
4. Antitrust Update  
 
Kay Noonan (NAIC) answered a question related to a concern expressed that a state mandate of SERFF would be an antitrust 
violation. Ms. Noonan stated that the U.S. Supreme Court precedent is determinative that the states are immune from the 
application of federal antitrust laws when they act in their capacity as states. Ms. Noonan further clarified her statement, 
noting that there has been no action taken by the NAIC to mandate SERFF, nor is there any plan to move in this direction. 
Therefore, there is no antitrust concern regarding the association. 
 
Director Hudson said that the SERFF system, as a product of the NAIC, performs an important function for the states and is a 
way for the states to accept filings efficiently and uniformly. This is part of an effort to move to a paperless system; so 
SERFF is, in effect, a back-office system for the states. Many states on the call agreed that a SERFF mandate in their state 
would require legislative approval and, thus, could not be affected by NAIC action.   
 
Mr. Edmiston made a request to put this item on the next agenda for the Board to further discuss, whether or not the Board 
wished to seek an outside legal opinion on the issue. 

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 1 



Attachment  
SERFF Board of Directors 

9/22/09 
 

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 2 

 
5. SERFF Product Development 
 
Bridget Kieras (NAIC) reported that SERFF v5.7 would be released later today, Aug. 12, and would contain several major 
enhancements — including reminders; changes for Pipeline; a search on General Instruction; state rate data; expansion of the 
compact confidentiality mechanism; and the ability to search within a PDF attachment on filings. Version 5.8 is now in 
development and has two major enhancements: 1) implementation of the Statement of Intent for the IIPRC; and 2) the ability 
to update a number of the filing fields post-submission. Work is also in progress with the PSC on 2010 release candidates. 
 
6. SERFF Marketing Update 
 
Thea Cook (NAIC) reported that over the past several months, monthly transaction volumes have been below budget and 
July was no exception, with transaction volumes falling about 500 below the budgeted amount of 45,034. There was an 
average of 1,935 transactions per day in the month of July. The January through July average was 1,217 transactions per day, 
making the total for SERFF at just over 308,000 transactions year-to-date. The June average per-transaction cost was $7.64 
and January through June was $7.56 per transaction. Eight new companies were licensed in July, which brings the total up to 
2,897 unique licensed companies. The “Getting Started with SERFF” tutorial is still being conducted on a monthly basis. 
There have been two public access Web demonstrations, with three more demos scheduled. There are plans to deliver some 
response tutorials in August, as well. A SERFF update was delivered, via Web session, to the Northwest chapter of the 
Association of Insurance Compliance Professionals (AICP) on July 21 and a member of the SERFF team participated in the 
Louisiana Insurance Department’s Compliance Day. 
 
Following the report, Ms. Eckler-Kerns made a request to receive the reports in written format in the future. 
 
7. Speed-to-Market Implementation Process 
 
Ms. Fritz said there were only about seven states with remaining issues; three of which are relatively minor changes to be 
made and the other four with bigger issues. The state implementation issues are as follows:   
 

• Illinois: Uniform Transmittal Document (UTD) still required. 
• California: Resolved with the release of SERFF v5.7. 
• Hawaii: Paper copy being required on filings. The legislation was approved, so this requirement should be 

removed soon.  
• Indiana: Still has significant implementation issues across all business areas. 
• Florida: A conference call is scheduled for Aug. 19. 
• New Jersey: Page limitation that should be removed soon.  

 
Since the Summer National Meeting, NAIC staff has focused more on the Medicare supplement project, with 39 states in 
production with the changes and the 12 remaining states anticipated to be complete by the end of September.   
 
Ms. Eckler-Kerns made a request to receive this report in written format in the future. 
  
8. Approval of Minutes 
 
A motion was made by Ms. Eckler-Kerns to approve the minutes of July 15 (Attachment A). Mr. Edmiston seconded the 
motion, and the minutes were approved.  
 
Having no further business, the SERFF Board of Directors adjourned.  
 
W:Sep09/SERFF/Board Agendas-Minutes/ SERFF(O)08-12-09Min.doc 



Attachment  
SERFF Board of Directors 

9/--/09 
 

Draft: 8/5/09 
SERFF Board of Directors 

Conference Call 
July 15, 2009 

 
The SERFF Board of Directors met via conference call July 15, 2009. The following members participated: Mary Jo Hudson, 
Chair (OH); Susan Eckler-Kerns, Vice Chair (Prudential); Susan Voss represented by Tom O’Meara (IA); Bill Lacy (AR); 
Tammy Lohman (MN); Doris Kullman (NY); Kathie Stepp (OK); Elaine Leighton (ACLI Representative); David Emmett 
(Georgia Mutual); Hank Edmiston (PCI Representative); Fred Alvarado (Transamerica); and Kim Kennedy (Travelers).  
 
The following ex-officio members participated: Maureen Hartsmith (NH); Shawna Greenway (Farm Bureau); Karen Schutter 
(IIPRC); Charlie Rapacciuolo (IIPRC); and Sonja Larkin-Thorne (NAIC Consumer Representative).  
  
1. Financial Illustrations/Budget 
 
Brady Kelley (NAIC) referred to the financial presentation, noting that changes to the illustrations made since the last 
meeting are consistent with some of the questions and information for which the Board has asked. Cumulative project results, 
including allocations made to support SERFF through 2008, are shown. Also illustrated are the actual results through May 31 
and the projections from June through December 2009, which reflect $4.1 million in revenue for 2009, compared to expenses 
of $2.9 million. The net change in assets is approximately $1.1 million. The second page reflects the overall SERFF financial 
picture, only without the allocations that show the cost to the NAIC to support the SERFF project. 
 
Mr. Kelley explained the importance of presenting all of the information for the life of the entire project from conception. 
When asked to explain the $1 million in “Other Expenses,” Mr. Kelley said that $800,000 was a sponsorship for revenue that 
never was committed by (but never received from) Essentium, which was a potential business partner. That amount was 
shown as revenue and then a corresponding expense was added when the committed amount was never received. The $4.4 
million in “Professional Services” was explained as consultant fees for work on the SERFF system. It was requested that the 
allocations also be reflected on the SERFF-only illustration going forward, so that amounts could be viewed side-by-side.  
 
Director Hudson said this information should be taken under advisement and asked the Board to submit their comments for a 
more formal discussion at the next meeting. The August meeting will be moved up one week due to Director Hudson’s travel 
schedule. Ms. Morrison offered to gather comments, revise the financials and re-circulate them with further explanation.  
 
2. Presentation and Discussion of SERFF 2010 Proposed Budget 
 
Julie Fritz (NAIC) referred to Page 2 of the financial presentation for the 2010 SERFF budget with direct expenses only. She 
said the 2010 proposed budget does not vary greatly from the 2009 proposed budget. Revenues and expenses are expected to 
show little change. Ms. Fritz reminded the Board that the 2009 actuals/projections will vary from the 2010 budget, because of 
the effort to reduce costs in 2009. The Board was again invited to submit questions or comments for discussion at the next 
SERFF Board meeting.  
 
3. Update and Discussion on Analysis for the Forms-driven Filings Enhancement 
 
Joy Morrison (NAIC) presented preliminary analysis on this project. As requested at the Summer National Meeting, analysis 
was conducted to determine if there were portions of the forms-driven filing project that could move forward despite the 
recommendations from the Operational Efficiencies (EX) Working Group that the Product Requirements Locator (PRL) 
development be suspended until there is some indication of commitment to PRL from the industry. The memo contains a 
summary of the recommendations and the suggestions to consider. All have been marked to indicate if the NAIC’s initial 
analysis would recommend pursuing the enhancement, completing more analysis or waiting until further decisions were 
made regarding PRL. An additional suggestion was to have multiple types of insurance (TOIs) completed, because the 
market demands this and it is also thought that this will make SERFF more user-friendly. It was also suggested that this same 
level of granularity be applied to rates and rules; perhaps the Product Steering Committee (PSC) could evaluate this. A 
requirement could then be based on those five categories: Form Type, Filing Method, TOI, Sub-TOI and Filing Type. Ms. 
Morrison agreed to gather some high-level estimates and place the recommended enhancements into the SERFF Board’s 
strategic plan so that the board can then prioritize the enhancements with the rest of the features already in the plan.   
 

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 1 



Attachment  
SERFF Board of Directors 

9/--/09 
 

4. Climate Change and Global Warming Survey/Use of SERFF  
 
Director Hudson said there was discussion at the Summer National Meeting about using SERFF to collect results from the 
Insurer Climate Risk Disclosure Survey. At the time, Ms. Fritz responded that SERFF was not the appropriate tool for that 
use; however, a Board member asked that it be addressed at this meeting. Director Hudson asked if anyone else had questions 
and, hearing none, discussion moved to the next agenda item. 
 
5. SERFF and Public Access 
 
The Board received a request from South Dakota to allow public access to SERFF filings via the Internet. Ms. Stepp said 
many states would appreciate the ability to allow consumers and interested parties the option to access filings without going 
into the state’s offices to do so. Many states do not have the resources to build their own Web interfaces through which rate 
and form filings might be accessible to the public and, thus, would like to utilize SERFF to fulfill this need. Several questions 
arose as to the functionality available in SERFF to protect confidential portions of the filings. It was agreed to prepare a Web 
presentation so that the Board would be given the opportunity to view the current functionality within the public 
access/confidentiality mechanism in SERFF. It was requested that these sessions be open to interested parties, as well, and 
that they be conducted prior to the next SERFF Board call so that the discussion may continue on this topic. 
 
6. SERFF Product Development  
 
Ms. Morrison reported that SERFF v5.7 is in testing and was moved to the QA environment last week, with a release planned 
for Aug. 12. The functionality was split into two releases to allow more time to manage the development and to allow for 
thorough testing. SERFF v5.8 is scheduled for a Nov. 4 release and it will include the post-submission updates enhancement, 
as well as the IIPRC’s fielded statement of intent.  
 
7. SERFF Marketing Update 
 
Thea Cook (NAIC) said that monthly transactions were reported at the Summer National Meeting and the numbers are down 
for the months of April and May. For January through June 2009, transactions are still slightly over budget at 14,000. 
However, the June numbers are still below the budgeted amount and the month of June ended with 46,379 transactions, 
where nearly 48,000 was budgeted. The average daily transaction rate for June was 2,108 transactions per day and there were 
22 business days in June. The average per-transaction amount for May was $7.47. The average per-transaction amount for 
January through May was $7.56. There are 48 new licensed companies and the total number of new licensed companies is 
now just under 2,900. The SERFF team will conduct a Web session for a meeting of the Northwest chapter of the Association 
of Insurance Compliance Professionals (AICP) and the Louisiana Insurance Department Compliance Day. The SERFF team 
still plans to attend the AICP national conference in October, but will not host a booth at the event. 
 
8. Speed to Market Implementation Progress 
 
Ms. Fritz reported that since the Summer National Meeting, California has gone live with all lines of business, the Product 
Coding Matrix (PCM) and Uniform Transmittal Document (UTD). The state still needs to get electronic funds transfer (EFT) 
implemented for their rating organizations. A conference call with Florida is planned for early August to discuss integration 
of I-File and SERFF. Hawaii has finished, has done EFT for life/health and hopes to complete property/casualty shortly. 
Illinois has only one outstanding issue, which is the implementation of the UTD on the life/health side. Indiana has more 
work to do and is in progress. Kentucky still needs some work on the health side; they have some different requirements, 
because not all health filings are handled by the insurance department. Mississippi should begin accepting EFT transactions 
on July 16. New Mexico finished EFT, but needs to remove the UTD attachment requirement. South Carolina still needs to 
implement EFT. New Jersey is fully implemented, except for the 200-page limit they will be eliminating.  
 
9. Approval of Minutes 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Edmiston to approve the minutes of the June 13 meeting. Ms. Stepp seconded the motion, and the 
minutes were approved with one unresolved item, which is clarification of possible trade infringements. Kay Noonan (NAIC) 
is not currently available to address this issue, so it will be placed on the agenda for the next call. 
 
Having no further business, the SERFF Board of Directors adjourned.  

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 2 



Attachment  
SERFF Board of Directors 

9/--/09 
 

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 3 

W:Sep09/SERFF/Board Agendas-Minutes/ SERFF(O)07-15-09Min.doc 



 

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 1 

SERFF Board of Directors 
6/13/09 

SERFF Board of Directors 
Minneapolis, MN 

June 13, 2009 
 

The SERFF Board of Directors met in Minneapolis, MN, June 13, 2009. The following members participated: Mary Jo 
Hudson, Chair (OH); Susan Eckler-Kerns, Vice Chair (Prudential); Susan E. Voss (IA); Bill Lacy (AR); Tammy Lohmann 
(MN); Ted Hamby (NC); Doris Kullman (NY); Kathie Stepp (OK); Elaine Leighton (ACLI); Fred Alvarado (Transamerica); 
and Kim Kennedy (Travelers).  
 
The following ex-officio members participated: Steve Buhr (AEGON); Maureen Hartsmith (NH); Karen Schutter (IIPRC); 
Charlie Rapacciuolo (IIPRC); Larry Mirel (Wiley Rein); Peg Ising (Nelson, Levine, de Luca & Horst); Charles Breitstadt 
(NAMIC); and Sonja Larkin-Thorne (NAIC Funded Consumer).  
 
1. Presentation of SERFF Financials Year-to-Date 
 
Julie Fritz (NAIC) presented the quarterly financial information for SERFF, noting that SERFF revenues were relatively flat 
and that, although the May financials were not completed as of the time of the report, revenue in May was below budget 
projections for the first time in several months. Ms. Fritz suggested that the overall economy might be contributing to average 
transactions being lower in May than usual. NAIC staff is conducting analysis of recent filing data in an effort to determine 
factors that might be influencing filing submissions in the second quarter. Year-to-date revenue numbers are slightly ahead of 
budget and actual expenses are under budget by approximately $50,000, as part of an effort to reduce expenses in 2009. 
 
Ms. Fritz drew the Board’s attention to the illustrations that were presented at the Spring National Meeting, which have been 
updated to include 2009 year-to-date numbers. These illustrations are being provided for continuity of reporting and so that 
the Board can see the fully burdened picture of SERFF’s financial status. Ms. Leighton asked why the expense for the 1995 
proof-of-concept was still being shown, as she expected that would have been written off by now. Brady Kelley (NAIC) 
responded that the expense did not require writing off, because it was incurred in 1995 and was fully reflected in the 
financials in 1995. He explained that the illustration shows a cumulative summary of all expenses; therefore, this amount was 
carried forward to illustrate a cumulative cost for SERFF over the life of the project. Mr. Kelley assured the Board that this is 
not a continuing expense for SERFF, but simply an expense that SERFF has incurred. The Board was also informed that the 
revenue line in this illustration shows a cumulative total for revenue, to include fees paid by original consortium members.  
  
2. Budget 
 
Ms. Fritz presented a draft of the 2010 budget. This draft shows all NAIC Department 89 revenues and expenses (with 
OPTins shown in a separate column) so that the Board may see those revenues and expenses directly related to SERFF. Ms. 
Fritz said there is little difference between the 2009 and 2010 revenue budgets. Revenue for SERFF is expected to remain 
flat, with little growth in 2010. Some expenses in 2010 are shown as much lower than 2009; this difference reflects a 
concerted effort by NAIC staff to reduce actual expenses in 2009. Ms. Fritz said royalty revenue proposed for 2010 is the 
result of anticipated contracts with vendors in 2010. The Board will be informed of any potential contracts as negotiations 
solidify. Ms. Kennedy asked, given the allocation of expenses for 2010 over what is reported in Department 89, what the total 
revenue to expenses number will be. Ms Fritz said the rest of the departments that would contribute to the allocation of 
expenses have not completed their budgets yet, but a rough estimate would be about $800,000 in revenue over expenses.  
 
3. Strategic Planning  
 
Ms. Morrison said the updates made to the strategic plan were marked as “June 2009” in the document. Ms. Morrison said 
two new items had been added, per the Board’s approval of new items on the May 20 conference call: hours approved to 
complete simple customer requests to move data from one hoster to another and the proof-of-concept work to explore 
solutions to some of the more complex scenarios related to data modification and retention. The Board also requested that 
analysis hours be devoted to continuing with the forms-driven filings enhancement, even though the Operational Efficiencies 
(EX) Working Group has delayed development on the redesigned Product Requirements Locator.  
 



 

© 2009 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 2 

4.  Product Development Update  
 
Development continues for SERFF 5.7, scheduled for release in September 2009. Items in testing include a search feature for 
General Instructions, additions to the Export Tool that will enhance state and company reporting abilities, Pipeline 
performance and format changes, and a new Reminders feature. Also planned for this release is an enhancement that will 
allow users to search for text within a PDF file. Ms. Morrison said this feature initially would be released to a limited group, 
to allow the team to gauge any impact to performance before releasing it to the entire user group. The implementation of the 
IIPRC Statement of Intent into fielded data and the ability to update more of the filing fields after submission are also 
planned for SERFF v5.7.  
 
5. Marketing Update  
 
Since the Spring National Meeting, the marketing team has licensed 95 companies and implemented more than 60 
companies. Overall, state support and state electronic funds transfer (EFT) mandates have encouraged the industry to 
implement EFT. Approximately 2,500 companies have implemented EFT — roughly 87% of the total number of unique 
licensed companies.  
 
6. Speed to Market Implementation Update 
 
Ms. Fritz said the Speed to Market initiatives effort is going well, and the team continues to work with the remaining states to 
complete implementation of the initiatives year-end. Hawaii is eliminating a hardcopy requirement through legislation to 
complete the state’s initiatives. Kentucky is expected to complete their health implementation by the end of June. California 
should be fully implemented across all life lines by the end of June. Mississippi, South Carolina and New Mexico still need 
to implement EFT.  
  
7. Approval of Minutes 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Voss to adopt the minutes of the May 20 conference call (Attachment x). Ms. 
Leighton seconded the motion, and the minutes were unanimously adopted. A motion was made by Ms. Kennedy to adopt the 
minutes of the April 15 conference call (Attachment X). Ms. Eckler-Kerns seconded the motion and the minutes were 
unanimously adopted.  
 
8. Any Other Matters  
 
The Board repeated its request for a statement from the NAIC regarding the possibility of an antitrust violation caused by the 
states mandating the use of SERFF when there is a charge to use the SERFF system. Director Hudson requested that Kay 
Noonan (NAIC) be invited to address the Board at the next monthly meeting. 
 
Having no further business, the SERFF Board of Directors adjourned.  
 
 
W:Jun09/SERFF/Board Agendas-Minutes/ SERFF(O)06-13-09Min.doc 
 



R
un

 D
at

e:
 0

8/
13

/0
9 

at
 1

1:
49

M
-T

-D
M

-T
-D

Y-
T-

D
Y-

T-
D

A
nn

ua
l

A
ct

ua
l

B
ud

ge
t

Va
ria

nc
e

Pe
rc

en
t

A
ct

ua
l

B
ud

ge
t

Va
ria

nc
e

Pe
rc

en
t

B
ud

ge
t

A
nn

ua
l L

ic
en

se
 F

ee
s

2,
08

3.
75

2,
08

3.
00

0.
75

0.
04

14
,5

83
.7

5
14

,5
85

.0
0

(1
.2

5)
(0

.0
1)

25
,0

00
.0

0
U

sa
ge

 F
ee

s
32

3,
70

4.
00

33
0,

82
3.

00
(7

,1
19

.0
0)

(2
.1

5)
2,

33
9,

00
7.

00
2,

16
0,

18
5.

00
17

8,
82

2.
00

8.
28

3,
80

8,
21

8.
00

O
P

Ti
ns

 U
sa

ge
 F

ee
s

2,
52

8.
25

10
,6

04
.0

0
(8

,0
75

.7
5)

(7
6.

16
)

17
,3

74
.0

0
58

,1
28

.0
0

(4
0,

75
4.

00
)

(7
0.

11
)

12
7,

38
3.

00
R

oy
al

ty
 R

ev
en

ue
0.

00
2,

63
7.

00
(2

,6
37

.0
0)

(1
00

.0
0)

0.
00

18
,5

54
.0

0
(1

8,
55

4.
00

)
(1

00
.0

0)
32

,1
35

.0
0

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 F
ee

s
0.

00
15

,0
00

.0
0

(1
5,

00
0.

00
)

(1
00

.0
0)

0.
00

22
,5

00
.0

0
(2

2,
50

0.
00

)
(1

00
.0

0)
37

,5
00

.0
0

E
-R

eg
ul

at
io

n 
C

on
f

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

To
ta

l R
ev

en
ue

s
32

8,
31

6.
00

36
1,

14
7.

00
(3

2,
83

1.
00

)
(9

.0
9)

2,
37

0,
96

4.
75

2,
27

3,
95

2.
00

97
,0

12
.7

5
4.

27
4,

03
0,

23
6.

00

S
al

ar
ie

s
11

4,
23

9.
91

11
5,

09
6.

00
(8

56
.0

9)
(0

.7
4)

73
2,

03
8.

18
76

0,
63

6.
00

(2
8,

59
7.

82
)

(3
.7

6)
1,

30
1,

08
8.

00
S

al
ar

ie
s 

- M
IS

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Tu
rn

ov
er

 F
ac

to
r (

B
ud

ge
t O

nl
y)

0.
00

(1
,4

03
.0

0)
1,

40
3.

00
(1

00
.0

0)
0.

00
(8

,8
85

.0
0)

8,
88

5.
00

(1
00

.0
0)

(1
5,

47
6.

00
)

V
ac

at
io

n 
Li

ab
 (A

ct
ua

l O
nl

y)
(4

49
.5

4)
0.

00
(4

49
.5

4)
   

   
   

N
/A

23
,5

68
.5

3
0.

00
23

,5
68

.5
3

   
   

   
N

/A
0.

00
S

al
ar

ie
s-

P
ro

m
ot

io
ns

 &
 A

dj
s

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

O
ve

rti
m

e
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
13

6.
50

0.
00

13
6.

50
   

   
   

N
/A

0.
00

In
te

rn
s

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

P
/R

 T
ax

es
-F

ic
a

8,
47

1.
65

8,
55

9.
00

(8
7.

35
)

(1
.0

2)
54

,4
17

.5
0

55
,1

47
.0

0
(7

29
.5

0)
(1

.3
2)

95
,6

26
.0

0
Fi

ca
-T

ur
no

ve
r F

ac
to

r
0.

00
(9

8.
00

)
98

.0
0

(1
00

.0
0)

0.
00

(6
40

.0
0)

64
0.

00
(1

00
.0

0)
(1

,1
02

.0
0)

Fi
ca

-V
ac

at
io

n 
Li

ab
ili

ty
(3

4.
39

)
0.

00
(3

4.
39

)
   

   
   

N
/A

2,
55

3.
14

0.
00

2,
55

3.
14

   
   

   
N

/A
0.

00
P

/R
 T

ax
es

-U
ne

m
p 

C
om

p
17

.7
2

29
.0

0
(1

1.
28

)
(3

8.
90

)
3,

90
7.

95
4,

04
5.

00
(1

37
.0

5)
(3

.3
9)

4,
05

6.
00

P
ro

f D
ev

-R
ei

m
bu

rs
ed

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

19
5.

00
1,

08
8.

00
(8

93
.0

0)
(8

2.
08

)
2,

17
6.

00
P

ro
f D

ev
-P

ro
f D

ue
s

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

42
9.

00
81

7.
00

(3
88

.0
0)

(4
7.

49
)

90
5.

00
P

ro
f D

ev
-P

ro
f T

ra
in

in
g

0.
00

60
0.

00
(6

00
.0

0)
(1

00
.0

0)
2,

49
3.

00
11

,0
85

.0
0

(8
,5

92
.0

0)
(7

7.
51

)
13

,3
85

.0
0

P
ro

f S
vc

s-
C

om
pu

te
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

31
,9

33
.0

0
(3

1,
93

3.
00

)
(1

00
.0

0)
36

,9
33

.0
0

P
ro

f S
vc

s-
O

th
er

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

P
ro

f S
vc

s-
C

re
di

t C
ar

d 
Fe

es
16

.4
8

0.
00

16
.4

8
   

   
   

N
/A

11
7.

11
0.

00
11

7.
11

   
   

   
N

/A
0.

00
C

om
p 

S
vc

s-
D

b 
N

et
w

or
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Tr
av

el
 E

xp
en

se
s-

S
ta

ff
1,

08
2.

68
97

1.
00

11
1.

68
11

.5
0

4,
17

8.
77

17
,6

92
.0

1
(1

3,
51

3.
24

)
(7

6.
38

)
26

,5
87

.0
1

N
on

-S
ta

ff 
Tr

av
el

/E
nt

er
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
93

2.
34

7,
55

0.
00

(6
,6

17
.6

6)
(8

7.
65

)
7,

55
0.

00
Tr

av
el

-S
al

es
/M

ar
ke

tin
g

0.
00

66
2.

00
(6

62
.0

0)
(1

00
.0

0)
4,

95
3.

61
10

,2
10

.0
0

(5
,2

56
.3

9)
(5

1.
48

)
21

,6
54

.0
0

O
cc

up
an

cy
-E

le
c,

C
le

an
,P

rk
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

E
qu

ip
m

en
t R

en
ta

l
35

.1
9

0.
00

35
.1

9
   

   
   

N
/A

35
.1

9
0.

00
35

.1
9

   
   

   
N

/A
0.

00
Te

le
ph

on
e 

E
xp

-L
oc

al
, L

d 
&

 C
el

l
2,

54
2.

29
1,

07
8.

00
1,

46
4.

29
13

5.
83

14
,6

35
.4

0
7,

54
6.

00
7,

08
9.

40
93

.9
5

12
,9

36
.0

0
O

th
er

 S
up

pl
ie

s
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
N

on
 C

ap
 E

qu
ip

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

36
0.

16
1,

09
3.

00
(7

32
.8

4)
(6

7.
05

)
1,

09
3.

00
M

ai
l S

er
vi

ce
s

38
8.

52
30

0.
00

88
.5

2
29

.5
1

3,
09

6.
90

2,
10

0.
00

99
6.

90
47

.4
7

3,
60

0.
00

R
ef

er
en

ce
 M

at
er

ia
ls

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

21
7.

09
57

0.
00

(3
52

.9
1)

(6
1.

91
)

57
0.

00
P

rin
tin

g 
&

 P
ro

du
ct

io
n

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Tr
ai

ni
ng

-E
-R

eg
 C

on
f

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

S
ta

te
 T

ec
hn

ic
al

 T
ra

in
in

g
(4

0.
00

)
76

8.
00

(8
08

.0
0)

(1
05

.2
1)

3,
10

2.
35

1,
53

6.
00

1,
56

6.
35

10
1.

98
3,

07
2.

00
B

ad
 D

eb
t E

xp
en

se
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
R

ec
ru

iti
ng

 &
 R

el
oc

at
io

n-
M

is
ce

x
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00

Sc
he

du
le

 o
f R

ev
en

ue
s 

an
d 

Ex
pe

ns
es

SE
R

FF
A

s 
of

: J
ul

y 
31

, 2
00

9

P
ag

e 
1



R
un

 D
at

e:
 0

8/
13

/0
9 

at
 1

1:
49

M
-T

-D
M

-T
-D

Y-
T-

D
Y-

T-
D

A
nn

ua
l

A
ct

ua
l

B
ud

ge
t

Va
ria

nc
e

Pe
rc

en
t

A
ct

ua
l

B
ud

ge
t

Va
ria

nc
e

Pe
rc

en
t

B
ud

ge
t

Sc
he

du
le

 o
f R

ev
en

ue
s 

an
d 

Ex
pe

ns
es

SE
R

FF
A

s 
of

: J
ul

y 
31

, 2
00

9

To
ta

l O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Ex

pe
ns

es
12

6,
27

0.
51

12
6,

56
2.

00
(2

91
.4

9)
(0

.2
3)

85
1,

36
7.

72
90

3,
52

3.
01

(5
2,

15
5.

29
)

(5
.7

7)
1,

51
4,

65
3.

01

R
ev

en
ue

s 
O

ve
r (

U
nd

er
) E

xp
en

se
s

20
2,

04
5.

49
23

4,
58

5.
00

(3
2,

53
9.

51
)

(1
3.

87
)

1,
51

9,
59

7.
03

1,
37

0,
42

8.
99

14
9,

16
8.

04
10

.8
8

2,
51

5,
58

2.
99

P
ag

e 
2



R
un

 D
at

e:
 0

7/
14

/0
9 

at
 1

6:
20

M
-T

-D
M

-T
-D

Y-
T-

D
Y-

T-
D

A
nn

ua
l

A
ct

ua
l

B
ud

ge
t

Va
ria

nc
e

Pe
rc

en
t

A
ct

ua
l

B
ud

ge
t

Va
ria

nc
e

Pe
rc

en
t

B
ud

ge
t

A
nn

ua
l L

ic
en

se
 F

ee
s

2,
08

3.
75

2,
08

3.
00

0.
75

0.
04

12
,5

00
.0

0
12

,5
02

.0
0

(2
.0

0)
(0

.0
2)

25
,0

00
.0

0
U

sa
ge

 F
ee

s
37

1,
83

7.
00

35
1,

96
5.

00
19

,8
72

.0
0

5.
65

2,
01

5,
30

3.
00

1,
82

9,
36

2.
00

18
5,

94
1.

00
10

.1
6

3,
80

8,
21

8.
00

O
P

Ti
ns

 U
sa

ge
 F

ee
s

2,
26

5.
91

10
,0

50
.0

0
(7

,7
84

.0
9)

(7
7.

45
)

14
,8

45
.7

5
47

,5
24

.0
0

(3
2,

67
8.

25
)

(6
8.

76
)

12
7,

38
3.

00
R

oy
al

ty
 R

ev
en

ue
0.

00
2,

75
0.

00
(2

,7
50

.0
0)

(1
00

.0
0)

0.
00

15
,9

17
.0

0
(1

5,
91

7.
00

)
(1

00
.0

0)
32

,1
35

.0
0

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 F
ee

s
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
7,

50
0.

00
(7

,5
00

.0
0)

(1
00

.0
0)

37
,5

00
.0

0
E

-R
eg

ul
at

io
n 

C
on

f
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
To

ta
l R

ev
en

ue
s

37
6,

18
6.

66
36

6,
84

8.
00

9,
33

8.
66

2.
55

2,
04

2,
64

8.
75

1,
91

2,
80

5.
00

12
9,

84
3.

75
6.

79
4,

03
0,

23
6.

00

S
al

ar
ie

s
10

8,
02

9.
47

11
0,

09
2.

00
(2

,0
62

.5
3)

(1
.8

7)
61

7,
79

8.
27

64
5,

54
0.

00
(2

7,
74

1.
73

)
(4

.3
0)

1,
30

1,
08

8.
00

S
al

ar
ie

s 
- M

IS
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
Tu

rn
ov

er
 F

ac
to

r (
B

ud
ge

t O
nl

y)
0.

00
(1

,3
40

.0
0)

1,
34

0.
00

(1
00

.0
0)

0.
00

(7
,4

82
.0

0)
7,

48
2.

00
(1

00
.0

0)
(1

5,
47

6.
00

)
V

ac
at

io
n 

Li
ab

 (A
ct

ua
l O

nl
y)

1,
58

5.
53

0.
00

1,
58

5.
53

   
   

   
N

/A
24

,0
18

.0
7

0.
00

24
,0

18
.0

7
   

   
   

N
/A

0.
00

S
al

ar
ie

s-
P

ro
m

ot
io

ns
 &

 A
dj

s
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
O

ve
rti

m
e

9.
33

0.
00

9.
33

   
   

   
N

/A
13

6.
50

0.
00

13
6.

50
   

   
   

N
/A

0.
00

In
te

rn
s

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

P
/R

 T
ax

es
-F

ic
a

8,
00

5.
23

8,
14

8.
00

(1
42

.7
7)

(1
.7

5)
45

,9
45

.8
5

46
,5

88
.0

0
(6

42
.1

5)
(1

.3
8)

95
,6

26
.0

0
Fi

ca
-T

ur
no

ve
r F

ac
to

r
0.

00
(9

3.
00

)
93

.0
0

(1
00

.0
0)

0.
00

(5
42

.0
0)

54
2.

00
(1

00
.0

0)
(1

,1
02

.0
0)

Fi
ca

-V
ac

at
io

n 
Li

ab
ili

ty
12

1.
29

0.
00

12
1.

29
   

   
   

N
/A

2,
58

7.
53

0.
00

2,
58

7.
53

   
   

   
N

/A
0.

00
P

/R
 T

ax
es

-U
ne

m
p 

C
om

p
(3

48
.9

7)
35

.0
0

(3
83

.9
7)

(1
09

7.
06

)
3,

89
0.

23
4,

01
6.

00
(1

25
.7

7)
(3

.1
3)

4,
05

6.
00

P
ro

f D
ev

-R
ei

m
bu

rs
ed

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

19
5.

00
1,

08
8.

00
(8

93
.0

0)
(8

2.
08

)
2,

17
6.

00
P

ro
f D

ev
-P

ro
f D

ue
s

10
5.

00
44

.0
0

61
.0

0
13

8.
64

42
9.

00
81

7.
00

(3
88

.0
0)

(4
7.

49
)

90
5.

00
P

ro
f D

ev
-P

ro
f T

ra
in

in
g

0.
00

1,
50

0.
00

(1
,5

00
.0

0)
(1

00
.0

0)
2,

49
3.

00
10

,4
85

.0
0

(7
,9

92
.0

0)
(7

6.
22

)
13

,3
85

.0
0

P
ro

f S
vc

s-
C

om
pu

te
r

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

31
,9

33
.0

0
(3

1,
93

3.
00

)
(1

00
.0

0)
36

,9
33

.0
0

P
ro

f S
vc

s-
O

th
er

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

P
ro

f S
vc

s-
C

re
di

t C
ar

d 
Fe

es
40

.0
3

0.
00

40
.0

3
   

   
   

N
/A

10
0.

63
0.

00
10

0.
63

   
   

   
N

/A
0.

00
C

om
p 

S
vc

s-
D

b 
N

et
w

or
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Tr
av

el
 E

xp
en

se
s-

S
ta

ff
1,

33
6.

75
6,

24
4.

00
(4

,9
07

.2
5)

(7
8.

59
)

3,
09

6.
09

16
,7

21
.0

1
(1

3,
62

4.
92

)
(8

1.
48

)
26

,5
87

.0
1

N
on

-S
ta

ff 
Tr

av
el

/E
nt

er
23

8.
46

0.
00

23
8.

46
   

   
   

N
/A

93
2.

34
7,

55
0.

00
(6

,6
17

.6
6)

(8
7.

65
)

7,
55

0.
00

Tr
av

el
-S

al
es

/M
ar

ke
tin

g
49

6.
70

80
0.

00
(3

03
.3

0)
(3

7.
91

)
4,

95
3.

61
9,

54
8.

00
(4

,5
94

.3
9)

(4
8.

12
)

21
,6

54
.0

0
O

cc
up

an
cy

-E
le

c,
C

le
an

,P
rk

g
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
E

qu
ip

m
en

t R
en

ta
l

(3
5.

19
)

0.
00

(3
5.

19
)

   
   

   
N

/A
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
Te

le
ph

on
e 

E
xp

-L
oc

al
, L

d 
&

 C
el

l
2,

66
4.

27
1,

07
8.

00
1,

58
6.

27
14

7.
15

12
,0

93
.1

1
6,

46
8.

00
5,

62
5.

11
86

.9
7

12
,9

36
.0

0
O

th
er

 S
up

pl
ie

s
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
N

on
 C

ap
 E

qu
ip

22
0.

00
17

7.
00

43
.0

0
24

.2
9

36
0.

16
1,

09
3.

00
(7

32
.8

4)
(6

7.
05

)
1,

09
3.

00
M

ai
l S

er
vi

ce
s

41
9.

09
30

0.
00

11
9.

09
39

.7
0

2,
70

8.
38

1,
80

0.
00

90
8.

38
50

.4
7

3,
60

0.
00

R
ef

er
en

ce
 M

at
er

ia
ls

11
.1

4
18

0.
00

(1
68

.8
6)

(9
3.

81
)

21
7.

09
57

0.
00

(3
52

.9
1)

(6
1.

91
)

57
0.

00
P

rin
tin

g 
&

 P
ro

du
ct

io
n

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Tr
ai

ni
ng

-E
-R

eg
 C

on
f

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

S
ta

te
 T

ec
hn

ic
al

 T
ra

in
in

g
3,

14
2.

35
0.

00
3,

14
2.

35
   

   
   

N
/A

3,
14

2.
35

76
8.

00
2,

37
4.

35
30

9.
16

3,
07

2.
00

B
ad

 D
eb

t E
xp

en
se

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

R
ec

ru
iti

ng
 &

 R
el

oc
at

io
n-

M
is

ce
x

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Sc
he

du
le

 o
f R

ev
en

ue
s 

an
d 

Ex
pe

ns
es

SE
R

FF
A

s 
of

: J
un

e 
30

, 2
00

9

P
ag

e 
1



R
un

 D
at

e:
 0

7/
14

/0
9 

at
 1

6:
20

M
-T

-D
M

-T
-D

Y-
T-

D
Y-

T-
D

A
nn

ua
l

A
ct

ua
l

B
ud

ge
t

Va
ria

nc
e

Pe
rc

en
t

A
ct

ua
l

B
ud

ge
t

Va
ria

nc
e

Pe
rc

en
t

B
ud

ge
t

Sc
he

du
le

 o
f R

ev
en

ue
s 

an
d 

Ex
pe

ns
es

SE
R

FF
A

s 
of

: J
un

e 
30

, 2
00

9

To
ta

l O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Ex

pe
ns

es
12

6,
04

0.
48

12
7,

16
5.

00
(1

,1
24

.5
2)

(0
.8

8)
72

5,
09

7.
21

77
6,

96
1.

01
(5

1,
86

3.
80

)
(6

.6
8)

1,
51

4,
65

3.
01

R
ev

en
ue

s 
O

ve
r (

U
nd

er
) E

xp
en

se
s

25
0,

14
6.

18
23

9,
68

3.
00

10
,4

63
.1

8
4.

37
1,

31
7,

55
1.

54
1,

13
5,

84
3.

99
18

1,
70

7.
55

16
.0

0
2,

51
5,

58
2.

99

P
ag

e 
2



R
un

 D
at

e:
 0

6/
11

/0
9 

at
 1

5:
03

M
-T

-D
M

-T
-D

Y-
T-

D
Y-

T-
D

A
nn

ua
l

A
ct

ua
l

B
ud

ge
t

Va
ria

nc
e

Pe
rc

en
t

A
ct

ua
l

B
ud

ge
t

Va
ria

nc
e

Pe
rc

en
t

B
ud

ge
t

A
nn

ua
l L

ic
en

se
 F

ee
s

2,
08

3.
25

2,
08

3.
00

0.
25

0.
01

10
,4

16
.2

5
10

,4
19

.0
0

(2
.7

5)
(0

.0
3)

25
,0

00
.0

0
U

sa
ge

 F
ee

s
30

9,
54

1.
00

31
9,

96
8.

00
(1

0,
42

7.
00

)
(3

.2
6)

1,
64

3,
46

6.
00

1,
47

7,
39

7.
00

16
6,

06
9.

00
11

.2
4

3,
80

8,
21

8.
00

O
P

Ti
ns

 U
sa

ge
 F

ee
s

1,
36

5.
00

11
,7

50
.0

0
(1

0,
38

5.
00

)
(8

8.
38

)
12

,5
79

.8
4

37
,4

74
.0

0
(2

4,
89

4.
16

)
(6

6.
43

)
12

7,
38

3.
00

R
oy

al
ty

 R
ev

en
ue

0.
00

2,
48

1.
00

(2
,4

81
.0

0)
(1

00
.0

0)
0.

00
13

,1
67

.0
0

(1
3,

16
7.

00
)

(1
00

.0
0)

32
,1

35
.0

0
M

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 F

ee
s

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

7,
50

0.
00

(7
,5

00
.0

0)
(1

00
.0

0)
37

,5
00

.0
0

E
-R

eg
ul

at
io

n 
C

on
f

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

To
ta

l R
ev

en
ue

s
31

2,
98

9.
25

33
6,

28
2.

00
(2

3,
29

2.
75

)
(6

.9
3)

1,
66

6,
46

2.
09

1,
54

5,
95

7.
00

12
0,

50
5.

09
7.

79
4,

03
0,

23
6.

00

S
al

ar
ie

s
10

3,
41

8.
40

10
5,

08
8.

00
(1

,6
69

.6
0)

(1
.5

9)
50

9,
76

8.
80

53
5,

44
8.

00
(2

5,
67

9.
20

)
(4

.8
0)

1,
30

1,
08

8.
00

S
al

ar
ie

s 
- M

IS
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
Tu

rn
ov

er
 F

ac
to

r (
B

ud
ge

t O
nl

y)
0.

00
(1

,2
33

.0
0)

1,
23

3.
00

(1
00

.0
0)

0.
00

(6
,1

42
.0

0)
6,

14
2.

00
(1

00
.0

0)
(1

5,
47

6.
00

)
V

ac
at

io
n 

Li
ab

 (A
ct

ua
l O

nl
y)

7,
51

2.
98

0.
00

7,
51

2.
98

   
   

   
N

/A
22

,4
32

.5
4

0.
00

22
,4

32
.5

4
   

   
   

N
/A

0.
00

S
al

ar
ie

s-
P

ro
m

ot
io

ns
 &

 A
dj

s
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
O

ve
rti

m
e

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

12
7.

17
0.

00
12

7.
17

   
   

   
N

/A
0.

00
In

te
rn

s
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
P

/R
 T

ax
es

-F
ic

a
7,

74
9.

91
7,

78
6.

00
(3

6.
09

)
(0

.4
6)

37
,9

40
.6

2
38

,4
40

.0
0

(4
99

.3
8)

(1
.3

0)
95

,6
26

.0
0

Fi
ca

-T
ur

no
ve

r F
ac

to
r

0.
00

(8
9.

00
)

89
.0

0
(1

00
.0

0)
0.

00
(4

49
.0

0)
44

9.
00

(1
00

.0
0)

(1
,1

02
.0

0)
Fi

ca
-V

ac
at

io
n 

Li
ab

ili
ty

57
4.

74
0.

00
57

4.
74

   
   

   
N

/A
2,

46
6.

24
0.

00
2,

46
6.

24
   

   
   

N
/A

0.
00

P
/R

 T
ax

es
-U

ne
m

p 
C

om
p

21
6.

77
65

.0
0

15
1.

77
23

3.
49

4,
23

9.
20

3,
98

1.
00

25
8.

20
6.

49
4,

05
6.

00
P

ro
f D

ev
-R

ei
m

bu
rs

ed
19

5.
00

1,
08

8.
00

(8
93

.0
0)

(8
2.

08
)

19
5.

00
1,

08
8.

00
(8

93
.0

0)
(8

2.
08

)
2,

17
6.

00
P

ro
f D

ev
-P

ro
f D

ue
s

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

32
4.

00
77

3.
00

(4
49

.0
0)

(5
8.

09
)

90
5.

00
P

ro
f D

ev
-P

ro
f T

ra
in

in
g

0.
00

3,
49

5.
00

(3
,4

95
.0

0)
(1

00
.0

0)
2,

49
3.

00
8,

98
5.

00
(6

,4
92

.0
0)

(7
2.

25
)

13
,3

85
.0

0
P

ro
f S

vc
s-

C
om

pu
te

r
0.

00
1,

93
3.

00
(1

,9
33

.0
0)

(1
00

.0
0)

0.
00

31
,9

33
.0

0
(3

1,
93

3.
00

)
(1

00
.0

0)
36

,9
33

.0
0

P
ro

f S
vc

s-
O

th
er

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

P
ro

f S
vc

s-
C

re
di

t C
ar

d 
Fe

es
26

.4
4

0.
00

26
.4

4
   

   
   

N
/A

60
.6

0
0.

00
60

.6
0

   
   

   
N

/A
0.

00
C

om
p 

S
vc

s-
D

b 
N

et
w

or
k

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Tr
av

el
 E

xp
en

se
s-

S
ta

ff
0.

00
1,

58
9.

00
(1

,5
89

.0
0)

(1
00

.0
0)

1,
75

9.
34

10
,4

77
.0

1
(8

,7
17

.6
7)

(8
3.

21
)

26
,5

87
.0

1
N

on
-S

ta
ff 

Tr
av

el
/E

nt
er

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

69
3.

88
7,

55
0.

00
(6

,8
56

.1
2)

(9
0.

81
)

7,
55

0.
00

Tr
av

el
-S

al
es

/M
ar

ke
tin

g
66

6.
06

1,
32

4.
00

(6
57

.9
4)

(4
9.

69
)

4,
45

6.
91

8,
74

8.
00

(4
,2

91
.0

9)
(4

9.
05

)
21

,6
54

.0
0

O
cc

up
an

cy
-E

le
c,

C
le

an
,P

rk
g

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

E
qu

ip
m

en
t R

en
ta

l
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
35

.1
9

0.
00

35
.1

9
   

   
   

N
/A

0.
00

Te
le

ph
on

e 
E

xp
-L

oc
al

, L
d 

&
 C

el
l

3,
12

7.
53

1,
07

8.
00

2,
04

9.
53

19
0.

12
9,

42
8.

84
5,

39
0.

00
4,

03
8.

84
74

.9
3

12
,9

36
.0

0
O

th
er

 S
up

pl
ie

s
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
N

on
 C

ap
 E

qu
ip

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

14
0.

16
91

6.
00

(7
75

.8
4)

(8
4.

70
)

1,
09

3.
00

M
ai

l S
er

vi
ce

s
35

9.
24

30
0.

00
59

.2
4

19
.7

5
2,

28
9.

29
1,

50
0.

00
78

9.
29

52
.6

2
3,

60
0.

00
R

ef
er

en
ce

 M
at

er
ia

ls
0.

00
16

0.
00

(1
60

.0
0)

(1
00

.0
0)

20
5.

95
39

0.
00

(1
84

.0
5)

(4
7.

19
)

57
0.

00
P

rin
tin

g 
&

 P
ro

du
ct

io
n

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Tr
ai

ni
ng

-E
-R

eg
 C

on
f

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

S
ta

te
 T

ec
hn

ic
al

 T
ra

in
in

g
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
76

8.
00

(7
68

.0
0)

(1
00

.0
0)

3,
07

2.
00

B
ad

 D
eb

t E
xp

en
se

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

R
ec

ru
iti

ng
 &

 R
el

oc
at

io
n-

M
is

ce
x

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

Sc
he

du
le

 o
f R

ev
en

ue
s 

an
d 

Ex
pe

ns
es

SE
R

FF
A

s 
of

: M
ay

 3
1,

 2
00

9

P
ag

e 
1



R
un

 D
at

e:
 0

6/
11

/0
9 

at
 1

5:
03

M
-T

-D
M

-T
-D

Y-
T-

D
Y-

T-
D

A
nn

ua
l

A
ct

ua
l

B
ud

ge
t

Va
ria

nc
e

Pe
rc

en
t

A
ct

ua
l

B
ud

ge
t

Va
ria

nc
e

Pe
rc

en
t

B
ud

ge
t

Sc
he

du
le

 o
f R

ev
en

ue
s 

an
d 

Ex
pe

ns
es

SE
R

FF
A

s 
of

: M
ay

 3
1,

 2
00

9

To
ta

l O
pe

ra
tin

g 
Ex

pe
ns

es
12

3,
84

7.
07

12
2,

58
4.

00
1,

26
3.

07
1.

03
59

9,
05

6.
73

64
9,

79
6.

01
(5

0,
73

9.
28

)
(7

.8
1)

1,
51

4,
65

3.
01

R
ev

en
ue

s 
O

ve
r (

U
nd

er
) E

xp
en

se
s

18
9,

14
2.

18
21

3,
69

8.
00

(2
4,

55
5.

82
)

(1
1.

49
)

1,
06

7,
40

5.
36

89
6,

16
0.

99
17

1,
24

4.
37

19
.1

1
2,

51
5,

58
2.

99

P
ag

e 
2



Ave Transaction Rate by Month

$7.43

$7.55

$7.65

$7.58
$7.53

$7.58

$7.66

$7.58

$7.47

$7.64
$7.67

$7.64

$7.30
$7.35
$7.40
$7.45
$7.50
$7.55
$7.60
$7.65
$7.70

Sep
t-0

8
Oct-

08
Nov

-0
8

Dec
-0

8
Ja

n-
09

Fe
b-

09
Mar

-0
9

Apr
-0

9
May

-0
9

Ju
n-

09
Ju

l-0
9

Aug
-0

9

Sep08-Aug09

R
at

e

Ave Daily Transactions by Month

2188
2290

2086 2109 2130
2231

2106
2020 2071 2108

1935 1984

1700
1800
1900
2000
2100
2200
2300
2400

Sept-
08

Oct-
08

Nov-
08

Dec-
08

Jan-
09

Feb-
09

Mar-
09

Apr-
09

May-
09

Jun-
09

Jul-
09

Aug-
09

Month

Tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns



$3
97

,6
95

$3
41

,8
28

$3
27

,6
36

$3
47

,2
87

$3
28

,9
78

$3
22

,4
32

$3
46

,9
37

$4
83

,7
75

$3
56

,3
42

$3
20

,0
82

$3
04

,6
16

$3
35

,9
13

$2
69

,5
69

$2
51

,5
56

$2
79

,7
22

$2
59

,5
88

$3
03

,4
15

$3
03

,4
15

$3
02

,8
45

$2
90

,8
20

$3
02

,8
45

$2
90

,2
50

$2
78

,2
25

$2
54

,1
75

$0

$100,000

$200,000

$300,000

$400,000

$500,000

Jan Feb March April May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Actual Budgeted

2008 SERFF Revenue

$3
20

,6
91

$3
21

,2
77

$3
55

,0
25

$3
36

,9
32

$3
09

,5
41

$3
54

,3
40

$3
41

,2
04

$3
18

,1
75

$3
19

,9
68

$3
30

,8
23

$3
51

,9
65

$3
19

,9
68

$3
27

,2
58

$2
95

,6
01

$2
67

,2
96

$2
67

,2
74

$0

$100,000

$200,000

$300,000

$400,000

Jan Feb March April May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Actual Budgeted

2009 SERFF Revenue



0

20,000

40,000

60,000

Actual Budgeted

Actual 42,602 42,381 46,342 44,437 41,410 46,379 44,496 41,665

Budgeted 38,428 36,494 40,422 44,617 43,560 47,916 45,034 43,560

Jan Feb M ar Apr M ay Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

0

10 , 0 0 0

2 0 , 0 0 0

3 0 , 0 0 0

4 0 , 0 0 0

5 0 , 0 0 0

6 0 , 0 0 0

7 0 , 0 0 0

Actual Budgeted

Act ual 41,278 46,497 64,019 45,589 41,951 42,841 45,541 43,999 45,942 52,681 39,626 44,297

Budget ed 36,428 33,994 37,800 35,079 41,002 41,002 40,925 39,300 40,925 39,223 37,598 34,348

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2008 SERFF Usage

2009 SERFF Usage



SE
R

FF
 F

ili
ng

 E
xp

er
ie

nc
e

P
&

C
67

%

H
ea

lth
16

%

Li
fe

17
%

20
09

 S
E

R
FF

 F
ili

ng
s 

by
 L

in
e 

of
 B

us
in

es
s

20
09

 S
ER

FF
 F

ili
ng

s 
 –

 

34
9,

71
2

* 
th

ro
ug

h 
Au

gu
st

 3
1,

 2
00

9



4,125 25,528
76,932

151,064

349,712

554,261

381,377

183,362
269,101

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
*through

August 31,
2009

SERFF Filing Experience by Year

41410
46379 44496 41665444374634242602 42381

5000

15000

25000

35000

45000

55000

65000

75000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Filing Year

N
um

be
r o

f F
ili

ng
s

2006 2007 2008 2009

Electronic Filings Per Month

P&C
67%

Health
16%

Life
17%

SERFF Filing Experience 
by Line of Business



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Optional Use of SERFF to Satisfy Requests for Information 

(Compilation of Requests and Comments) 
 
 
July 2009: South Dakota sent a request to the SERFF Board asking that access to SERFF 
via the internet be made available to allow the state to more easily satisfy public requests 
for rate and form information.  
 
July 15, 2009: The SERFF Board receives the South Dakota request during their monthly 
meeting and decides to hold a series of web demonstrations so that Board members and 
interested parties could learn the current functionality in SERFF to control access to the 
components of a SERFF rate and form filing. Five demonstrations for approximately 400 
attendees were conducted between late July and late August. 
 
August 12, 2009: The SERFF Board asks that the meeting agenda for the Fall National 
Meeting include an agenda item to allow for comments on this issue. Interested parties 
are invited to submit their comments and speak on the topic.  
 
August 27, 2009: A notice is distributed to SERFF users and interested parties with the 
details of the meeting and an invitation to provide comments. Those who wish to speak at 
the meeting were asked to provide written comments by September 17 and speakers are 
ordered by the date of their submission. 
 
The attached represents the letter of request by South Dakota and the compilation of 
comments grouped by Regulator, Industry or Consumer.  
 

1



Regulator: South Dakota 
Name: Merle Scheiber 
Title: Director

2



3



   

 
 

Regulator Comments 
 

Michigan 
Name: Randy Parlor 
Title: Director, Product Review Section (P&C) 
Comments (via email):  
Michigan OFIR would like the SERFF Team to make SERFF filings accessible for public access (view 
only), with the appropriate ID and password, from any computer by opening up access to internet addresses 
outside of the department of insurance. All of our filings are open to public inspection. As long as viewers 
cannot manipulate the file in any way and can only view, download, and/or print it then such access will 
greatly enhance our ability to serve our customers. 
 
Thank you for your kind consideration of this input and request. 
 
Sincerely, 
Randy Parlor 
 
*Illinois 
Name: William R. McAndrew 
Title: Deputy Director 
Comments (via email):  
Illinois is strongly in favor of this proposal and our comments are submitted below.  I will be attending the 
meeting and will speak in favor of the proposal if needed. 
 
Since all insurance filings in Illinois are public record to one degree or another, we would welcome full 
public access to filings maintained by SERFF from any computer.  In today's technology driven world, 
allowing the public to access insurance filings from their home, work, or any off-site location would greatly 
facilitate our ability to serve the public.  Insurance company arguments that such access would be unfair or 
divulge trade secrets ignore the fact that such records are already available and fly in the face of open 
competition.  Put differently, public access to SERFF filing makes no change to laws governing which 
documents are or are not public.  It simply facilitates access to already-public documents.  In addition, in 
2005 the LAH form compliance unit converted entirely to electronic filing, our sole record keeper is the 
SERFF system.  As such all non-SERFF LAH filings are submitted via CD and are downloaded into the 
SERFF system.  In order for the State to allow open access to these documents from our website we would 
need to create a separate electronic storage system.  Since all of these documents are already contained in 
final form on SERFF such duplication of efforts would be cumbersome and inefficient, and could 
potentially create errors. 
 
Currently, the public can access the Department's website from any location (home, office, internet café, 
etc.) and see a list of filings that have been made and request copies from our back office system.  Because 
SERFF provides no such function, access is available only through a far more cumbersome FOIA request 
process.  Putting such barriers to public access does not comport with the broad-based desire for open 
government.  With the current need to ensure that public government documents are available and easily 
accessible, it is imperative that SERFF provide public access to Department documents. 
 
Ultimately we feel that SERFF is a tool that allows the Director to comply with statutory policy approval 
requirements and acts as our record storage system.  As such, it should be under each state's control to 
establish access to such records. 
 
Nebraska 
Name: LeAnn Hammar 

4



   

Title: Life/Health Analyst 
Comments (via email): 
The Nebraska Life and Health Division would like to be able to see filings submitted to other states.   
 
There are times when we are unsure how to process a filing and want to know what other states have done.  
In these cases, now we ask the companies submitting the filing for information they have received from 
other states.  However, if we could look up the filing in the other states and see the status, objections, 
comments, etc. that would be a help. 
 
Also companies should be able to see SERFF filings from all states and all companies. 
 
*Vermont 
Name: Kevin J. Gaffney 
Title: Senior Market & Insurance Analyst 
Comments (via email): 
Vermont appreciates the SERFF board allowing us the opportunity to comment on this important issue. 
Vermont would like to speak in support of the measure to enhance public access to SERFF filings. This 
measure would allow for secure remote access to SERFF filings. SERFF is the common filing platform for 
most states, with 22 states, including Vermont, requiring the use of SERFF as the sole filing method. As 
states move toward 100% SERFF filings, the need for the public to review paper or microfiche filings in 
person at the Department of Insurance will be a thing of the past.    
 
Currently, Public Records Law in Vermont and many other states allows for access to public records, in 
person, at designated times during normal business hours. While this process has worked well, current 
technological advancements allow for remote access to SERFF records at any time. Vermont supports this 
measure, as it allows for equal access to filings for consumers, consumer advocates, researchers and 
industry alike. Vermont considers this a positive change, enhancing both public access and transparency. 
 
*Puerto Rico 
Name: Miriam Ortiz-Rodriquez, CPCU 
Title: Supervisor, Property and Casualty Insurance 
Comments (via email): 
Thanks for granting us the opportunity to provide our comments regarding public access to SERFF filings 
via Internet.  The Office of the Commissioner of Insurance of Puerto Rico understands that the initiative 
will be beneficial for all those parties interested in viewing filings made publicly available.  
Notwithstanding, before granting our support, we have a few comments and concerns which we will 
appreciated be taken into consideration. 
 
As you know, each state has different public inspection regulations.  Therefore, the access to filings should, 
as possible, be according to each state’s regulations. First of all and although as we understand, states will 
maintain the power of marking the filing publicly available, we recommend that this should be kept 
unalterable. This is important to us since, in Puerto Rico, not all filings can be viewed by the public, and 
those that can be, are subject to public access one year after the date of its approval.  
 
In addition, not all documents submitted in a filing are subject to public access. In our jurisdiction the 
supporting documents of forms, rules and rates presentations are not subject to public inspection. Among 
these, but not limited to, are the following: explanatory memorandum, actuarial memorandum, reserve 
calculations and statement of variables. Likewise, we consider that reviewer notes and all communications 
with the insurer are private documents, and that they should not be subject to disclosure. Therefore, the 
system should provide the form to mark those documents within a filing for which access will be allowed.  
 
Finally, we will like to know if the public access to the filings will be provided by the states or by NAIC.  
Will the control of providing IDs and passwords be the same for the general public and for insurers? We 

5



   

consider that some kind of guaranty must be offered in terms that it will not be possible for anyone to 
reproduce the filing.  
 
We trust the above comments will be useful and we will appreciated they be taken into consideration.  To 
present our comments, we request a tentative turn to speak at the SERFF Board meeting.  We will confirm 
you if the person what will assist representing Puerto Rico will be available for this meeting.  However, 
should you have any questions, do not hesitate to contact us at your earliest convenience. 

6



   

 
 
 
 
 
 
September 15, 2009 
 
 
Via E-Mail Only 
jmorriso@naic.org 
 
The Honorable Mary Jo Hudson 
Director, Ohio Department of Insurance 
Chairman, SERFF Board of Directors 
c/o Joy Morrison 
SERFF Staff Support 
 
 
Dear Commissioner Hudson: 
 
The Oregon Insurance Division supports the proposal to access SERFF filings via the 
Internet. Over the past few years there has been a lot of interest in Oregon’s rate review 
process for health insurance and providing consumers with more information about this 
process is a key element of Oregon’s health reform. 
 
In 2007, the passage of Oregon’s House Bill 3103 established requirements for public 
disclosure of rate filings submitted for individual, small employer, and portability health 
insurance coverage. The division posts these filings to its public Web site upon receipt 
and updates this information when a decision has been made on the filing. The division 
also posts a rate filing decision summary for each of these filings that explains why the 
division arrived at the final disposition. And beginning in 2010, Oregon consumers will 
have an opportunity to send the division comments on these rate filings.  
 
Providing easier access to this information via the Web is good for consumers and 
supports Oregon’s efforts for improved transparency. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to offer these comments to the Board.  
 
 
Gayle L. Woods 
Operations Manager 
Oregon Insurance Division 
(503) 947-7217 
gayle.woods@state.or.us 

Department of Consumer and Business Services
Insurance Division 

350 Winter St. NE, Room 440 
PO Box 14480 

Salem, OR 97301-0405 
(503) 947-7980 

FAX (503) 378-4351 
TTY (503) 947-7280 

www.oregoninsurance.org 

Theodore R. Kulongoski,  Governor 

Regulator: Oregon 
Name: Gayle L. Woods 
Title: Operations Manager 

7



Minnesota 
Glenn Wilson 
Commssioner

8



   

 
 
 

SERFF Board of Directors Hearing 
On 

PUBLIC ACCESS 
 

NAIC Fall National Meeting 
Washington D.C., September 22, 2009 

 
 

Submitted by:  Pennsylvania Insurance Department 
 
 
 

Good afternoon Directors and thank you for giving me the opportunity to speak to you on 
this important subject.  I am Randy Rohrbaugh, Deputy Insurance Commissioner of the 
Pennsylvania Insurance Department.  Our state is a charter member of the SERFF 
application tool as well as a member of the Interstate Insurance Product Regulation 
Commission. 
 
Pennsylvania has a long standing history of supporting regulatory modernization and 
transparency.  We strongly support NAIC’s committee goals and activities to develop 
state uniformity and regulatory efficiencies.  We believe these initiatives improve our 
combined effectiveness and ultimately are more responsive in protecting consumers. 
 
The business of government is complex and the business government’s regulation of 
insurance is even more complex and rarely understood by consumers.  Pennsylvania and 
particularly our current governor do not believe impeding public access to public 
information makes sense.  Consumers have a high level of dissatisfaction with trusting 
government to protect them from corporate abuse and we have the current state of our 
financial services industry to look to for examples of government’s failure to protect 
consumers.  We in government should be doing all we can do to rebuild faith and 
consumer trust that we can protect them from abuse.  Open government and transparency 
is one of the strategies that will assist us in that goal.  Pennsylvania recently passed a new 
law to enhance public access to information in our new “Right to Know Law”  ….. 
 
SERFF has evolved and improved tremendously over the past decade.  As Pennsylvania 
became more proficient with processing SERFF filings, it became very apparent that we 
could not only review filing in a paperless mode but we could also build a paperless file 
room.  This lead to a desire to give the public “web based internet” access to SERFF 
filings.  Unfortunately, this feature was not made available to states.  Therefore, 
Pennsylvania decided to build its own public access tool.  Several failed attempts delayed 
our work.  Each attempt started with a simple design but ultimately grew into a grand 
document storage data base project and budget constraints scuttled further work.  We 
finally got smart and simplified our scope.  Six weeks later and $7500 in cost, we built a 

Pennsylvania 
Name: Randy Rohrbaugh 
Title: Deputy Commissioner 

9



   

web-based PDF Oracle application allowing public access to not only view our approved 
SERFF filings, but we also scanned and included all paper filings processed by our staff.  
We implemented our web based Public Room in April of 2008 and we now have over 
20,000 filing on our web available for anyone to view over the internet! 
 
For the past decade, consumers could review pending filings in Pennsylvania.  We 
announce significant rate filings to the public and make the filing documentation 
available for public inspection.  We make this information available on our web site, so 
consumers can access the filing documents from their internet servers.  We want 
consumers to have the opportunity to comment on pending filings and provide the 
Department with their comments before we conclude our review.  This has resulted in 
many amended and withdrawn filings.  With our new paperless file room, consumers 
now can access every approved rate and form filing made in Pennsylvania.  In addition, 
competition between companies is stimulated by their ability to access filings from their 
offices via the internet.   
 
Developing this type of access feature in SERFF would greatly enhance public access.  
Having a uniform feature developed in SERFF is obviously the right direction to take.  
This was clearly a feature foreseen during the development of SERFF and the Board 
should proceed with the development of this feature.  Legislatures intended for filings to 
be public and to argue otherwise is inconsistent with the spirit of open government.

10



   

 
 
 
 
 
 
Date:  September 17, 2009 
To:   SERFF Board of Directors 
From:  Karen Schutter, Executive Director 
 
Cc:  Commissioner Jane Cline, Chair, IIPRC 
 Director, Mary Jo Hudson, Vice Chair, IIPRC 

Commissioner Sean Dilweg, Treasurer, IIPRC 
 

Subject:  Comments regarding Request to Access Filings in SERFF via the Internet 
 
 
The IIPRC is a multi-state public entity, which serves as an instrumentality of the Member States 
(currently 36 states with more expected to join). The IIPRC serves as a central point of electronic 
filing for certain insurance products, including life insurance, annuities, disability income and 
long-term care insurance and develops uniform product standards, affording a high level of 
protection to purchasers of asset protection insurance products.   The IIPRC receives its product 
filings via SERFF.   All IIPRC filings and filing records are maintained in SERFF. 
 
Pursuant to the IIPRC’s Establishment of Conditions and Procedures for Public Inspection and 
Copying of Information and Official Records of the Interstate Insurance Product Regulation 
Commission (“Public Access Rule”), the IIPRC is required to make product filings available for 
public inspection upon approval (other than information that qualifies as a trade secret).  IIPRC 
approved-products are available in up to 36 jurisdictions; however, the IIPRC office is located in 
Washington, DC.   
 
The process of fulfilling public records request requires the same IIPRC resources as are devoted 
to the product review operations. When a request is made, especially for multiple filings, it takes 
quite a bit of time for the IIPRC team member to locate the filings and put them in the appropriate 
electronic format for transmission.  With the electronic access proposed by South Dakota, the 
IIPRC would be able to provide public access to approved filings and would save the time and 
resources required today to fulfill a request.     
 
The SERFF system today, is a web system.  The entire application operates on an internet 
platform.  It has demonstrated the capability of providing public access to consumers and 
interested parties on a computer in their own home or office, while affording necessary 
protections to prevent inappropriate access or access to protected information of both filers and 
regulators such as trade secret information.   
 
Accordingly, the IIPRC supports the request initiated from the state of South Dakota that would 
allow access to SERFF filings via the internet for filings made publicly available by states.  

Regulator: *IIPRC 
Name: Karen Schutter 
Title: Executive Director 

11



   

 
Industry Comments 

 
The Hingham Group 
Name: Anne F. Tierney, CIC, CISR 
Title: Product Development Assistant 
Comments (via email): 
I respectively request that you bring before the Board at the next meeting the matter of allowing Public 
Access Records stored on SERFF be accessed at Industry level, rather than having to make an appointment 
and travel to the State offices to view records that could just as easily be viewed at the comfort of our own 
offices. 
 
I’m sure this is a concern of many other Industry Users, maybe a poll could be taken amongst the Industry 
Users before the next Board meeting, so that you will have numbers for the Board to support this concern. 
 
Thank you in advance for taking time to listen to my concern and any assistance you can provide making 
this change. 
 
Ohio Insurance Mutual Group 
Name: Sam Michener 
Title: Auto Product Manager 
Comments (via email): 
We are definitely in favor of allowing the general public to access filings from points outside of the 
department of insurance. 
 
We are a small company that is expanding into other states.  One of the issues that we have is accessing 
filing information for other companies.   
 
We are dependent on someone physically going to the department of insurance to gather information for 
us.  We are also paying for a service that allows us to access company filings, but they are typically not up 
to date.  This would allow us the ability to access filing information from our office and to access the 
filings as soon as they are available.   
 
This capability would be a tremendous benefit to us.  
 
Farmers Mutual Hail Insurance Company of Iowa 
Name: Connie Doud, CPCU, CCP 
Title: Research Analyst 
Comments (via email): 
I am writing in support of the South Dakota initiative to allow access to SERFF filings via the internet for 
filings made publicly available by the state.  I have personally had to make appointments with DOI’s to 
drive hundreds of miles to log on to their department computer to view SERFF filings.  This really doesn’t 
make any sense when we should be able to log on to the internet from any location to view the same 
information.  In a time when we are all conscience of keeping our environment clean, why should fuel and 
time be wasted driving to a physical location to access data that is available already on an internet 
application? 
 
CNA Surety 
Name: Judy Barjenbruch 
Title: Rate and Form Filing Analyst 
Comments (via email): 

12



   

"For reasons of efficiency, CNA Surety supports the proposition that would allow SERFF users access to 
SERFF filings made publicly available by states."   

Permanent General Assurance Corporation 
Name: Nicole Brockman 
Title: Product Manager II 
Comments (via email): 
I would just like to comment that this would be a welcome improvement as this would save the industry 
travel and lodging expenses as often times trips are necessitated only to retrieve filings. Although some 
Departments of Insurance allow you to view competitor rate filings information at a high level already 
seeing the actual filings would be hugely beneficial. 
 
*American Council of Life Insurers (ACLI) 
Name: Miriam Krol 
Title: Vice President, Long-Term Care 
Comments (via email): 
On behalf of ACLI, we appreciate the opportunity to comment and submit the following comments:  
 
1. Public access is not a new issue. It was discussed at the very onset of the process of developing SERFF. 
Industry insisted then, and the states/NAIC agreed, that SERFF would not be used to facilitate access to 
filings of one company by other companies, nor to filings with one state by other states.  
  
2. Whether the use of SERFF for public access could or would be technologically more efficient has never 
been the issue. The issue is fair competition between companies and other filing entities. It is not in the 
interest of those members of the industry who invest money and resources in developing innovative 
products and other intellectual property to make it easier and more efficient for companies that prefer to sit 
back and copy such products to access information about those innovative products/property. While such 
companies can, and occasionally do, go to the necessary efforts to access such information about their 
competitors' products today, making the process easier is not widely viewed as being in the industry's best 
interests. 
  
3. Since the NAIC is not empowered to dictate to individual states how they should interpret and enforce 
their FOIA standards, the net result of using SERFF for public access would be to grant immediate public 
access to any inquiring company to filings being provided the least trade secret protection. In other words, 
anyone with a computer could get access to filings from the moment they are transmitted through SERFF to 
a state that provides little or no protection for trade secrets. So long as the NAIC can not or will not assure 
that even the most basic protections for trade secrets are imposed, industry is unlikely to see using SERFF 
for public access as being in its best interests. 
  
4. We urge the SERFF Board of Directors members to withhold the supermajority approval that would be 
necessary under the SERFF Bylaws to implement the public access function. 
 
 

13



   

 Georgia Farm Bureau Insurance Companies 
Name: Martha Holland, CPCU, AAM 

Title:  
Comments (via email): 
Currently to view another companies filing requires you to go to the Department of Insurance (DOI)  and 
use their computer and review the filing. This adds to the insurer's and DOI work load without any benefit 
since the information is public record. To allow this information to be obtained via the internet would 
improve the process without any hardship to anyone. 
 
Georgia Farm Bureau Insurance Companies 
Name: Amy Kinn 
Title: CPCU, ARP, CSF, ARC, ARM, ARe, AIS, API, AIT, AIC, AU, AIM, AIAF 
Comments (via email):Allowing access to SERFF filings via the internet for filings made publicly 
available by the state would not only benefit Insurers but the Departments of Insurance as well.  Obviously 
the ability to view public filings would be beneficial to Insurers as the access would be simpler, faster and 
would remove the need to print in some cases.  The Departments of Insurance would be freed from the 
requests of Insurers to make appointments to view filings and to keep a dedicated computer for this 
process. 
 
Westfield Insurance Company 
Name: Lorie Dorsey 
Title: Personal Lines Product Management 
Comments (via email): 
In the September issue of the SERFF Insider is a section regarding the upcoming open forum to discuss 
public access to SERFF filings via the internet.  As a market research analyst for a P/C insurance company, 
much of my role involves accessing public filings for our competitors in order to validate that we are 
offering a competitive product at a competitive price. As you can imagine, the economic situation has made 
it difficult to travel to each state's DOI in order to obtain the filings needed. Online access would be a 
valuable tool in my research and I encourage the panel to seriously consider this option. 
 
Altius Health Plans 
Name: Frank Kyle 
Title: Director, Regulatory Affairs 
Comments (via email): 
Altius Health Plans, a SERFF industry user, supports internet access to filings made publicly available by 
the state.  This change would increase efficiency in the market because it would save time for both the 
requestor and state regulators, in addition to eliminating travel costs for those wishing to access the filings.  
The change is particularly beneficial for insurers or other public requestors who need access to filings in 
states other than the state where their offices are located.  Significant time and travel expenses may 
currently apply to requestors in that situation.  Altius believes that if any additional fees for this access will 
be assessed by SERFF or state regulators, such fees should be minimal. 
 
Alfa Insurance Companies 
Name: Neal Harrison 
Title: Vice President, Research 
Comments (via email): 
RE:       Accessing public filings 
 
To whom it may concern: 
 

14



   

We are in support of being able to access public filings via the internet from any computer outside the 
insurance departments.  We feel it would be beneficial for the following reasons: 
 

1. It should save the companies on the expense associated with travel, lost time, etc. that it 
takes to go the departments. 

2. It is more efficient to work from your own office than at the insurance department. 
3. The soft copy technology is easier to work with and could be accessed multiple times 

from the users own office. 
 
Any time technology allows us to increase efficiencies and decrease expenses we are in support.  The lower 
the companies expenses the lower the customer rates will ultimately be. 
 
Thanks for allowing us to provide our comments. 
 
MetLife 
Name: Judith A. Elpus 
Title: Contract Consultant 
Comments (via email): 
I have been working in the contract/compliance area for over 20 years.  I do not believe it is beneficial for 
any interested persons to be able to access the state filing information from carriers unless they are willing 
to travel to the state offices to do so. This was the process before electronic filing.   I think confidentiality 
over the internet could become an issue if the access was open to any computer.  Thank you for your 
consideration. 
 
RAM Mutual Insurance Company 
Name: Missy Romano 
Title: Agency Services Specialist 
Comments (via email): 
I am writing as a representative of RAM Mutual Insurance Company, Esko, Minnesota. Accessibility of 
public filings via the Internet would be a great service to the insurance industry. The task of physically 
travelling to another state’s insurance department is a very time consuming and costly. As this information 
is already available for public review, it should not be so difficult to access – especially in these days of 
advanced technology. Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Southern Trust 
Charity Welch 
Underwriting Administrator 
Comments (via email): 
On behalf of Southern Trust Insurance Company, I am submitting written support of the proposal to be 
discussed during the upcoming Board Meeting to allow access to SERFF filings via the internet for filings 
made publicly available by the state.  We are unable to send a representative to attend the meeting and 
wanted to express our support of this issue. 
 
Westfield Insurance Company 
Heather L. Smee 
Personal Lines Homeowner Product 
Comments (via email): 
Thank you for soliciting feedback on the upcoming National SERFF Board Meeting topic of whether or not 
to allow public access to SERFF filings via the internet.  
 
This would be considered an amazing breakthrough for those of us in the product development areas of the 
insurance industry.  My colleagues and I are faced with the daily challenge of developing competitive 

15



   

products at fair prices.  In order to do so, we have to remain savvy with our competitors’ offerings.  
 
Having the ability to access SERFF filings on-line would streamline the competitive intelligence gathering 
process.  Today we either spend tons of time and money visiting Departments of Insurance, or we spend 
tons of time and money contracting with vendors to secure needed filings.  Both options leave much to be 
desired, especially in these budget conscious times. 

16



   

AIA  
Catherine Paolino 

Senior Counsel 

                            
 
 
 
 
 

2101 L Street NW 
 

Suite 400 
 

Washington, DC 20037 
 

202-828-7100 
 

Fax 202-293-1219 
 

www.aiadc.org 
 
        September 17, 2009 
 
 
VIA EMAIL (jmorriso@naic.org) 
 
Ms. Joy Morrison 
NAIC-SERFF 
 
 RE: Outstanding Issues 
 
Dear Ms. Morrison: 
 
The American Insurance Association (AIA) writes in response to several issues pending 
before the SERFF Board:  (1) bylaws - changes to Board; (2) budget; and (3) Freedom 
of Information Act.  A somewhat common thread connects them – uncertainty around the 
NAIC’s / SERFF’s capacity to make and to keep promises.  Regardless, each is a 
discrete issue with its own set of concerns. 
 
Bylaws - Changes to Board  
 
SERFF has been an extremely successful regulator-industry effort at making operational 
filing speed-to-market efficiencies.  Even prior to the Board’s creation, it was viewed as a 
win-win for regulators and industry alike.  SERFF endeavor demonstrated a constructive 
way for those involved to work together.  Industry funding, intellectual capital, 
management, support and time has been essential to the creation and the continuing 
success of the SERFF electronic filing platform.   
 
The SERFF Board was established as joint industry-regulator entity in recognition of the 
benefits to both regulators and insurers.  This acknowledged that industry’s role was not 
limited to start-up efforts, but rather was to be on-going.  There were reasons insurers 
wanted a continuing role in SERFF, including protection of proprietary information.   
 
Please direct your attention to NAIC materials going back to 1996 and 1997.  They 
outline the consortium principles and the agreement for the venture and document the 
actions and intentions at the outset of the organization. 
 

17



   

Those advocating for removal of the SERFF Board (or of the essential powers and 
authority of the Board) have given no meaningful explanation and/or demonstrated 
theory as justification for taking this role from industry contributors.  The NAIC and some 
regulators reference a legal opinion, but such opinion and the questions prompting such 
opinion have not been circulated.  Those skeptical of the motives behind the proposal 
ask whether this is an effort to remove the natural checks-and-balances from the system 
so as to move forward with initiatives and budgetary changes that would otherwise be 
questioned. 
 

• At the very least, removal of the Board or re-characterizing it as something less 
meaningful is a serious breach of trust and good faith.   

 
• Indeed, such action may violate more than a promise. 

 
The NAIC does not have the authority to nullify SERFF agreements with the insurance 
industry. 
 
Budget 
 
SERFF Board members, regardless of whether employed as a regulator or from 
industry, have real and meaningful obligations to the Board.  For example, consider 
duties to act on an informed basis and in the best interest of the organization (here, 
SERFF): 
 

• Understanding finances of an organization through audit is a prudent way to be 
so informed.   

 
• Continuing to ensure that fees going into the organization are not funneled 

elsewhere is a prudent way to act in the best interest of the organization and as 
promised at the outset of the venture. 

 
AIA urges all Board members to consider the budgetary issues through the lens of these 
obligations. 
 
Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) Responses 
 
On its face, the idea of a single uniform interface housed within State Insurance 
Departments to assist those seeking access to filings would ease the work of insurance 
department staff, would leverage the SERFF technology and database, and, if 
appropriate safeguards are in place, it possibly may be useful to a broader audience. 
 
AIA submitted a letter to the NAIC-SERFF on April 26, 2007 in response to survey 
questions about public access.  That attached letter raised several concerns.  AIA is 
unaware of the answers to these threshold questions.  In addition to those questions, 
AIA sees other practical issues. 
 
Importantly, even if the technology has been developed to protect designated proprietary 
trade secret information as confidential and it has been sufficiently tested to provide 
such assurances, there would still be concerns about what would happen when a 
particular state has received a challenge or has otherwise questioned the confidential 

18



   

nature of that information.  AIA has heard second hand that the idea would be to build in 
logic to follow the applicable underlying state law.  This does not provide adequate 
assurances.  Today, the laws are inconsistent, but the risk is lower given that technology 
is not in place to provide the information instantaneously or in high volumes.  AIA urges 
SERFF and state regulators to sidestep these problems: 
 
 SERFF should not be the vehicle for turning over filing materials that have been 

designated as trade secret.  Rather, the State Insurance Department should 
separately, manually and affirmatively be responsible for each such instance.  
Upon independent review, Department personnel may make a deliberate 
determination to pull and share such information in accordance with that state’s 
notice, FOIA, and other procedures.   

 
Further, consider additional concerns: 
 

• It is unclear whether/how the system would work with respect to older filings 
submitted using earlier versions of SERFF, which did not include a confidentiality 
indicator for proprietary information. 

 
• SERFF does not own the insurer filed information; it should be clear that it cannot 

now or in the future sell such information. 
 
• There is a concern that down the road SERFF may become an aggregator.   This 

was not the purpose of the platform.  There is danger in putting information 
together in a way other than as it was intended to be used. 

 
• For filings that contain proprietary data omitted from the publicly available SERFF 

information, there should be some such indication to avoid confusion. 
 
• There are some aspects of the SERFF bylaws that would need to be revised in 

order to implement the public access function.  In addition, SERFF license 
agreements would need to be modified. 

 
• It is unclear how new functions are to be funded.   

 
 

* * * * * 
 
In closing, AIA seeks to work collaboratively with SERFF and state regulators to 
preserve and enhance the filing system, consistent with the discussion above. 
 
        Respectfully submitted, 
 
         /s/ 
 
        Catherine Paolino  
        Senior Counsel 
        202 – 253 - 8920 
 
 

19



   

Third Party Filer/Vendor Comments 
 
*Perr&Knight 
Name: Tim Perr 
Title: Managing Principal 
Comments: 

20



 

 881 Alma Real Drive  ·  Suite 205  ·  Pacific Palisades, CA 90272  ·  310.230.9339  ·  310.230.1061 fax  ·  www.perrknight.com 
Pacific Palisades, CA     Irvine, CA     Boca Raton, FL     Jersey City, NJ     Ft. Worth, TX 

 

September 17, 2009 
 
The SERFF Board of Directors 
 
The Honorable Mary Jo Hudson, Chairman, SERFF Board of Directors 
Susan Eckler Kerns, Vice Chairman SERFF Board of Directors 
The Honorable Susan Voss, Director 
Fred Alvarado, Director 
Hank Edmiston, Director 
H. David Emmett, Director 
Ted Hamby, Director 
Kim Kennedy, Director 
Doris Kullman, Director 
Bill Lacy, Director  
Elaine Leighton, Director 
Tammy Lohmann, Director 
Kathie Stepp, Director 
 
 

Re: NAIC Proposal to Make SERFF Filings 
Available to the Public via the Internet 

 Perr&Knight’s Comments 
 
Dear Board, 
 
I am Tim Perr, Managing Principal of Perr&Knight, a provider of consulting services to 
the insurance industry.  Among other services, we offer access via the Internet to 
publicly available insurance company filings through our website Ratefilings.com.  We 
have maintained a digital library of filings since 1998.  We object to the proposal for the 
NAIC to make all SERFF filings available via the Internet through SERFF for the 
following reasons. 
 

1. This service is already provided in the commercial marketplace.  
Perr&Knight, through our website, Ratefilings.com, already makes these filings 
available via the Internet.  On Ratefilings.com, SERFF filings, as well as paper 
filings, are integrated seamlessly providing complete access to parties interested 
in obtaining publicly available filings.  Our service extends to all U.S. jurisdictions.  
We have spent many years and several millions of dollars developing 
Ratefilings.com to make it easy for our customers to use.  It is widely used by the 
insurance industry to access filings.  In addition to Perr&Knight, several other 

Industry: Perr&Knight 
Name: Timothy B. Perr 
Title: Managing Principal

21



SERFF Board of Directors 
Perr&Knight Comments 
September 17, 2009 
Page 2 of 3 

  
 
 

 

P E R R & K N I G H T  

companies already exist that provide access to filings through Internet 
applications.  With additional cooperation from the states and perhaps the NAIC 
through SERFF, we and our competitors can achieve everything the states are 
looking for through this proposal.  Therefore, it is not necessary for the NAIC, a 
quasi-governmental entity, or any of the states to make any investment to 
provide a service that is already available in the commercial marketplace.   

 
2. The funding of this proposal could be unfair to insurance companies and 

service providers like Perr&Knight.  SERFF is presently funded by assessing 
fees onto insurance companies filing over the SERFF system.  If the NAIC, 
through SERFF, is to provide insurance company rate, rule and form filings to the 
public at no cost (or at a subsidized cost), the NAIC will be required to cover the 
cost of SERFF’s file viewing function through the revenues it receives from 
SERFF’s filing submission service.  This would be unfair to SERFF’s filing 
submission service customers who would be effectively subsidizing SERFF’s 
filing viewing service.  It would also be unfair to filing service providers like 
Perr&Knight (and our competitors) who cannot rely on any subsidies and must 
pass along all of our costs directly to our customers. 
 

3. The proposal will likely result in more paper filings.  Insurance company rate, 
rule and form filings, while deemed public information, contain very valuable 
information for competitors.  Insurance companies don’t want it to be easy or 
inexpensive for their competitors to obtain copies of their rate, rule and form 
filings.  Currently, there is a cost for insurance companies to obtain their 
competitors’ filings whether they go directly to the states or whether they buy the 
filings from Perr&Knight or one of our competitors.  If the NAIC removes this cost 
by making all SERFF filings available via the Internet, it could encourage 
companies to revert to paper filings (i.e. filings submitted to the states via hard 
copy), in the states where it is allowed, to avoid having their valuable filing 
information becoming so easily and inexpensively available to their competition.  
This result will be magnified if service providers like Perr&Knight, who obtain 
copies of paper filings and make them available on our websites, are driven out 
of business.  This result is not desirable for the DOIs as they could see an 
increase in the number of paper filings that they must review, as well as a 
counter-productive return to high traffic in their physical public viewing rooms and 
use of their copy machines.  This result is also not desirable for the NAIC as they 
could see reduced use of SERFF if more companies revert to paper filings. 

 
  

22



SERFF Board of Directors 
Perr&Knight Comments 
September 17, 2009 
Page 3 of 3 

  
 
 

 

P E R R & K N I G H T  

4. The NAIC and the DOIs are not prepared to handle the associated customer 
service.  As a current provider of insurance company rate, rule and form filings, 
Perr&Knight can attest to the significant number of customer questions that the 
NAIC will receive if they make SERFF filings available via the Internet.  
Perr&Knight employs a staff of insurance professionals who are dedicated to 
handling phone calls and email inquiries regarding competitor rate, rule and form 
filings.  The inquiries range from questions involving perceived missing 
information, technical issues with respect to downloading and viewing 
documents, finding information within a document, etc.  Furthermore, the NAIC 
will likely direct most of these questions back to the various DOIs.  Consequently, 
what is meant to be a relief to DOIs with respect to providing customer service in 
their public viewing rooms will likely end up as an increased burden with this 
unforeseen flood of customer questions. 

 
In summary, we urge the Board to reject the proposal to open an Internet-available 
SERFF Public Viewing Room.  Alternately, we urge the NAIC, SERFF and the individual 
DOIs to partner with firms like Perr&Knight with existing, proven solutions and 
infrastructures to meet the objectives contemplated here.   
 
On a final note, it should be clearly understood that if the Board does decide to go 
forward with this proposal, it will most likely drive Perr&Knight, our competitors, and the 
dozens of small businesses that revolve about the DOI public viewing rooms out of this 
business which will result in the loss of many jobs in this already distressed economy.   
 
Perr&Knight is happy to participate in further discussions with the NAIC or the DOIs 
regarding this proposal. 
  
 
Sincerely, 

 
Timothy B. Perr 
Managing Principal 
Perr&Knight 

23



   

 
Consumer Comments 

Name: *See Undersigned 
Title: 
Comments: 
The undersigned consumer representatives, consumer organizations and other interested parties write in 
support of providing public access to SERFF filings from computers other than those located in state 
insurance departments. 
 
This proposal benefits both regulators and the public.  The proposal will benefit regulators by reducing the 
costs of staff time and department resources to respond to public information requests. 
 
It will make it easier for members of the public to access rate and form filings made electronically through 
SERFF.  This is particularly important for consumer organizations with limited resources --organizations 
unable to travel to states to sit at the public access computer in the state insurance department.   Insurers 
and insurance company consultants possess the resources to access filings from state insurance departments 
already.  While this proposal will reduce costs for insurers and their consultants, it means the difference 
between having access and not having access for consumers and consumer organizations located outside of 
the state. 
 
Finally, the proposal is good public policy because it makes public records more accessible to the public. 
 
Joseph M. Belth, Professor Emeritus of Insurance at Indiana University 
     
    
J. Robert Hunter, Director of Insurance, Consumer Federation of  
America  
Bonnie Burns, Training and Policy Specialist, California  
Health Advocates  
Karrol Kitt, NAIC Consumer Representative  
Bonita Kallestad, NAIC Consumer Representative  
Pam Bolton, TexasWatch, NAIC Consumer Representative  
Kevin Lucia, NAIC Consumer Representative  
Colleen Repetto, Fair Insurance Rates in Monroe, NAIC Consumer  
Representative  
Greg Squires, NAIC Consumer Representative  
Birny Birnbaum, Center for Economic Justice, NAIC Consumer Representative  
Brendan Bridgeland, Center for Insurance Research, NAIC Consumer  
Representative 
 

24


	committees_serff_bod_0909_agenda_materials.pdf
	SERFF(O)09-22-09Agenda
	SERFF Board of Directors (O) Meeting 
	EX-0FFICIO MEMBER ROLL CALL
	AGENDA



	BOD StratDvlpmtPlan update 091009
	Dashboard
	2007-08 Strat Plan

	Development Update Sept 2009
	Implementation Update_Sept2009_BoardUpdate
	Marketing Update_Sept2009_BODUpdate
	SERFFBoardElection2010

	committees_serff_bod_0909_materials
	Sept09SERFFBOARD2.pdf
	SERFF(O)08-12-09Min
	SERFF(O)07-15-09Min
	SERFF _O_06-13-09Min
	0709 DEPT89
	Sheet1

	0609 DEPT89
	Sheet1

	0509 DEPT89
	Sheet1

	Transactions0809
	2008-2009 revenue
	Slide Number 1

	FilingExperience_LOB_SEP09
	Slide Number 1

	Filings per year and per month_LOB

	2008-2009 usage

	committees_serff_bod_0909_open_forum


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




